



ASWWU EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING

Documents for:

March 14th, 2024 | 5:30 PM | VU 567, TEAMS
Town Hall

Meeting Documents Table of Contents

Document #	Title	Page #
1	Job Descriptions	2-20
2	AS Elections Code	21-49
3	Committee Update	50
4	Senate Food Security Referendum	51
5	ASWWU Legislative Session Review	52-53
6	ASWWU Constitution Referendum	54-58



Western Washington University

AS President Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The AS President is the chair and a voting member of the AS Executive Board. This elected position is charged with serving all ASWWU students. The President is responsible for representing students, leading the Executive Board and working with the Senate President for the success of the ASWWU Government. The President is also responsible for coordinating official communications on behalf of the Executive Board and assisting students in communicating concerns important to students to university administration.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. AS President can work up to 25 hours/week during Fall, Winter, and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/AS President must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Completion of 5 quarters (or equivalent) of college work (at any institution), with at least 2 full-time (12+ credits) quarters within the current academic year at Western Washington University.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience working with complex budgets.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.
- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.

- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Familiarity with local, state and national legislative systems.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Preparing weekly regular Executive Board Meeting Agendas.
 - Collaborating with designated Student Government Assistant and AS Governance Advisor to complete administrative needs for regular weekly Exec Board meetings.
 - Reviewing all relevant meeting documents (e.g. Agendas, Minutes, Documents Packets) for accuracy.
 - Chair Executive Board Meetings
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g., study abroad).
- Working with the members of the Executive Board in a cooperative and timely manner.
- Reporting major business at each official meeting of the Executive Board.
- Holding regular check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor.
- Ensuring AS Exec Board is operating in alignment with current AS Government Charter, Constitution and By-laws.
- Identifying short and long term strategic AS Exec Board goals.

Represent the interests of the student body of Western Washington University by:

- Serving as Chair of the AS Executive Board
- Devoting up to 25 hours per week to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Facilitating process to appoint student representation to committees under the purview of AS Executive Board.
- Communicating regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Serving as the spokesperson of the AS Executive Board, in consultation with the Executive Board.
- Regularly communicating with WWU administration, including the University President, Vice President for Enrollment and Student Services, Vice President for University Relations, and the Executive Director for Student Engagement.
- Informing the AS Executive Board of actions taken by the University Administration on a regular basis.
- Giving an oral and written report at each regular session of the Board of Trustees, President's Cabinet regarding the major business of the AS Executive Board.
- Ensuring Western Students are represented at the State Level by attending the Washington Student Association meetings as well as taking part in state and federal lobbying efforts as needed.
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Actively pursuing lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities

for student representation in university-wide decisions.

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance advisor to revise and update position job description annually prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position as appropriate.

Ensure the accountability and continuity of the AS Executive Board by:

- Maintaining regular contact with the AS Senate President, AS Vice Presidents, AS Directors, AS and VU Advisors, and AS employees about important student issues and activities.
- Providing strategic vision for AS Executive Board trainings and retreats in collaboration with the designated AS Governance Advisor.

Ensure responsible financial management of the Associated Students organization by:

- Managing the financial accounts of the AS Executive Board in Collaboration with designated Budget Authority.

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Chair, facilitate, and create agendas for:

- ASWWU Governance Conference Committee (Co-Chair)
- AS Finance Council (in absence of the Chair (AS Business Director))
- Student Trustee Selection Committee – coordinated with President's Office and Board of Trustees Staff

Serve as a voting member on:

- President's Advisory Group on Strategic Matters
- Services and Activities Fee Committee
- Washington Student Association Board of Directors
- AS Finance Council

Serve as a recurring invitee to:

- Western Board of Trustees Meetings

Review and nominate student members for:

- AS Student Trustee Selection Committee
- Students Rights and Responsibilities Code Review Committee
- Other committees as needed

Serve on other Associated Students, University, or community committees, as necessary. Such as:

- Capital planning implementation committees
- Search committees for Vice Presidents or President of the university.

Student Budget Coordinator Responsibilities

- Collaborate with Staff Budget Authority to ensure the stewardship of the student funds, in accordance with Associated Students goals and policies, by management of the following fund(s):
 - Board Administration (FXXBAD)
 - Board Discretionary Fund (FXXBDS)

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040



Western Washington University

AS Vice President for Sustainability Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The AS Vice President for Sustainability acts as a liaison between the Associated Students, Sustainability Engagement Institute, AS Recycling Center, Active Transportation Office, sustainability related student clubs, and other sustainability and sustainable transportation efforts. This position serves as a resource for all students on campus and in the community needing support for any concerns related to the areas listed above.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. They can work up to 19 hours/week during Fall, Winter, and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/AS VP for Sustainability must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Experience working with complex budgets.
- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.
- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.

- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- Demonstrated understanding of intersectional sustainability and related sustainable practice concepts.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g., study abroad).
- Working with the members of the Executive Board in a cooperative and timely manner.
- Reporting major business at official meetings of the Executive Board as requested.
- Holding regular individual check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor and AS President.
- Identifying short and long term strategic goals for VP position, in alignment with AS Exec Board strategic goals.

Represent the interests of the student body of Western Washington University by:

- Devoting up to 19 hours per week to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Coordinate with AS President to communicate regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board relevant to VP position. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Coordinating with AS President to pursue lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities for student representation in university-wide decisions in areas relevant to VP position.
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Working with OCE Staff/AS Governance Advisor to recruit and fill student positions on committees related to this position.
 - Chair designated committees (See below)

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance advisor to revise and update position job description annually prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position as appropriate.

Ensure the interests of Associated Students are properly represented in areas related to sustainability by:

- Maintaining regular contact with positions in the Sustainable Engagement Institute (SEI), Sustainability, Equity and Justice Fund (SEJF) program, Zero Waste Western Office, AS Recycling Center, and other positions related to sustainability.
- Serve on the President's Sustainability Council – send delegate if unable to attend
 - Facilitate appointment one other student to serve as an At-Large representative at the beginning of the academic year.
- Chair the Sustainability, Equity, and Justice Fund (SEJF) Committee.
 - Facilitating and revising the SEJF Program to fit the goals and interests of students, and in a way that promotes fairness, transparency, and consistency.
 - Facilitate operations of SEJF Committee in cooperation with Program Manager.
- Seeking input from environmental clubs on campus sustainability issues.
- Serve as primary AS Exec Board liaison to the WWU Foundation and Administration on issues related to sustainability.

Represent the interests of students by working with campus and community sustainability partners:

- Serving as a voting member and chair of:
 - Sustainability, Equity and Justice Fund Committee
 - AS Transportation Advisory Committee
- Serving on:
 - President's Sustainability Council
 - WWU Transportation Advisory Committee
- Facilitating appointment of student representation on sustainability related committees/advisory groups
- Meet with campus stakeholders and administrators to discuss the integration of the Sustainability Action Plan into larger institutional goals.

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Chair, facilitate, and create agendas for:

- SEJF

Serve as a voting member on:

- WWU Transportation Advisory Committee
- AS Active Transportation Advisory Committee
- Sustainability, Equity and Justice Fund Committee

Review and nominate student members for:

- AS Sustainability, Equity and Justice Fund Committee
- AS Transportation Advisory Committee
- WWU Transportation Advisory Committee
- Other committees as needed

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040



Western Washington University

AS Vice President for Activities Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The Vice President for Activities acts as the strategic liaison between AS clubs, AS program offices and the ASWWU Executive Board. The Vice President for Activities is charged with helping clubs provide extra-and-co-curricular programming to the students of Western Washington University. The Vice President for Activities also serves as the Liaison between the AS and other Western organizations, including but not limited to Campus Recreation, the Departmental Related Activities, and the Student Publications office.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. AS VP for Activities can work up to 19 hours/week during Fall, Winter, and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/AS VP for Activities must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Experience working with complex budgets.
- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.
- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.

- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- Knowledge of Student Activities support programs at WWU.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g., study abroad).
- Working with the members of the Executive Board in a cooperative and timely manner.
- Reporting major business at official meetings of the Executive Board as requested.
- Holding regular individual check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor and AS President.
- Identifying short and long term strategic goals for VP position, in alignment with AS Exec Board strategic goals.

Represent the interests of the student body of Western Washington University by:

- Devoting up to 19 hrs/week to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Coordinate with AS President to communicate regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board relevant to VP position. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Coordinating with AS President to pursue lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities for student representation in university-wide decisions in areas relevant to VP position.
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Working with OCE Staff/AS Governance Advisor to recruit and fill student positions on committees related to this position.
 - Chair designated committees (See below)

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance Advisor to revise and update position job description annually prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position as appropriate.

Ensure the interests of Associated Students are properly represented in AS Activities and Programs by:

- Act as the liaison between the AS Executive Board and the AS Club Activities Office
 - Hold regular meetings with AS Clubs Activities Manager or designee.
 - Attend AS Club Activity Office meetings as invited to facilitate regular communication.
- Act as the liaison between AS Exec Board and AS Productions Staff
 - Holding regular meetings with the Assistant Director for Student Activities or designee.
- Contributing to AS Club Kickoff and other leadership development events, as needed/requested.
- Collaborating with VU Leadership and Community Engagement Center as appropriate.
- Facilitating AS Activities Council operations in coordination with AS Club Activities Office leadership.
- Attend Campus club meetings by invitation as needed to facilitate open communication with AS Executive Board.

Represent the interests of students with other campus activities partners by:

- Serving as a voting member on the Recreation Center Advisory Committee
- Meeting individually with the Director of Intercollegiate Athletics and Director of Campus Recreation Services at least twice per quarter.
 - Encouraging collaboration between AS offices and the Athletics and Campus Recreation departments.
- Serving on VU Advisory Board

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Chair and facilitate:

- AS Activities Council

Serve as a voting member on:

- AS Communications Committee
- Recreational Center Advisory Committee
- Student Publications Council
- Student Union Advisory Board

Serve as a non-voting member on:

- Department-Related Activities Council

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040



Western Washington University

AS Vice President for Diversity Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The ASWWU Vice President for Diversity is responsible for promoting a commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusivity in all AS Programs and Offices. This position acts as the official liaison on behalf of the ASWWU Executive Board to university offices offering services to marginalized or underrepresented students including but not limited to The Centers for Student Access, Community, and Intercultural Engagement and the Office of Equity. The ASWWU Vice President for Diversity is charged with working with university administrators, faculty, and fellow students as they continue to focus on diversity and equity efforts. This includes the empowerment, retention, and full inclusion of all populations on campus that are and have been systemically and historically marginalized, and or underrepresented.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. AS President can work up to 25 hours/week during Fall, Winter, and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/AS VP for Diversity must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Experience working with complex budgets.

- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.
- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.
- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- Demonstrated understanding of Shared Equity Leadership Frameworks.
- Understanding of historical ADEI issues important to WWU students.
- Knowledge of Access, Diversity and Inclusion programming efforts at Western past and present.
- Understanding of current diversity issues concerning the university, the greater Bellingham community, and its global connection.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g., study abroad).
- Reporting major business at official meetings of the Executive Board as requested.
- Holding regular individual check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor and AS President.
- Identifying short and long term strategic goals for VP position, in alignment with AS Exec Board strategic goals.

Represent the interests of the student body of Western Washington University by:

- Devoting up to 19 hours per week to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Coordinate with AS President to communicate regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board relevant to VP position. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Coordinating with AS President to pursue lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities for student representation in university-wide decisions in areas relevant to VP position.
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Working with OCE Staff/AS Governance Advisor to recruit and fill student positions on committees related to this position.
 - Chair designated committees (See below)

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance advisor to revise and update position job description annually prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position as appropriate.

Ensure the interests of Associated Students are properly represented in areas related to ADEI by:

- Meeting regularly to discuss student concerns/ideas about ADEI at Western with University and Division Leadership including but not limited to:
 - AVP for The Centers for Student Access, Community, and Intercultural Engagement or designee
 - WWU Chief Diversity Officer or designee
 - VP for Enrollment & Student Services or designee.
- Making official recommendations to the ASWWU Executive Board concerning all diversity, equity and inclusion related topics addressed by the Board.
- Working with ESS Division programs and offices to help represent student concerns/ideas regarding ADEI on campus.
- Serving as the liaison to the Ethnic Student Center on behalf of the AS Executive Board.
- Supporting AS OCE and AS VP for Governmental Affairs efforts to engage diverse/underrepresented student populations in civic engagement programming.
- Maintaining awareness of current campus ADEI issues by attending related events.
- Ensure objectivity of position by:
 - Advocating for *all* diverse groups of students.
 - Supporting equitable representation for all marginalized and historically and currently underrepresented groups.

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Chair, facilitate, and create agendas for:

Needs 24_25 Update

Serve as a voting member on:

- The President's Taskforce on Equity, Inclusion, and Diversity
- AS Personnel Committee
- Diversity Achievement Award Committee
- University Work Group on Sexual Violence Prevention and Response
- Social Justice and Equity Committee (SJEC)
- Undocumented & Mixed Status Committee

Serve on other Associated Students, University, or community committees, as necessary.

Student Budget Coordinator Responsibilities

- Collaborate with Staff Budget Authority to ensure the stewardship of the student funds, in accordance with Associated Students goals and policies, by management of the following fund(s):
 - AS Exec Board Diversity Initiative Fund

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040



Western Washington University

AS Vice President for Governmental Affairs Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The AS Vice President for Governmental Affairs (ASVPGA) acts as a liaison between the Associated Students and the University Legislative Liaison Office. The ASVPGA helps Western students understand issues of concern in local City, County, State of Washington, and the United States federal legislation. The Vice President for Governmental Affairs seeks to increase student awareness and involvement in legislative issues, increase voter turnout amongst students, and provide opportunities for students to become involved in the legislative processes. The ASVPGA is responsible for serving as Chair of the AS Legislative Affairs Council and facilitating creation and adoption of official AS Washington State Legislative Lobby Day Agendas as needed to represent ASWWU students. This position leads annual Western WA State Legislature Lobby Day(s) planning.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. The Vice President for Governmental Affairs can work up to 19 hours/week during Fall and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. They may work up to 25 hrs/week during Winter Term to prepare for Western Lobby Days. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/ASVPGA must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience working with complex budgets.
- Demonstrated experience coordinating complex projects.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.

- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.
- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Familiarity with local, state and national legislative systems.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g. study abroad).
- Working with the members of the Executive Board in a cooperative and timely manner.
- Reporting major ASVPGA business at official meetings of the Executive Board as requested.
- Holding regular individual check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor and AS President.
- Identifying short and long term strategic goals for ASVPGA position aligned with Strategic Goals of AS Executive Board.

Represent the interests of ASWWU members by:

- Devoting up to 19 hrs/week (Fall/Spring Terms) and up to 25 hrs/week (Winter Term) to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Coordinate with AS President to communicate regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board relevant to VP position. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Coordinating with AS President to pursue lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities for student representation in university-wide decisions in areas relevant to VP position.
- Working with OCE Staff/AS Governance Advisor to recruit and fill student positions on committees related to this position.
 - Chair designated committees (See below)

Ensure the interests of the ASWWU members are represented in the local community by:

- Making official recommendations to the Executive Board concerning all relevant local community issues in consultation with the AS OCE Local Issues Coordinator.
- Receiving regular updates on local community issues (e.g. individual Bellingham Neighborhood Associations, Campus Community Coalition, and Whatcom Transit Authority) from the AS Local Issues Coordinator.

Ensure the interests of ASWWU members are properly represented in WA State legislative process by:

- Facilitating the creation of a state legislative Lobby Day(s) agenda via Legislative Affairs Council for AS Executive Board approval prior to Lobby Day.

- Gathering information starting early in the academic year from the student body regarding student interests on legislative matters to inform the legislative agendas.
- Lead organizing, planning, and execution of Western Lobby Day(s) in Olympia with help from Legislative Affairs Council, AS Governance Staff (Advisors/SGA) and AS OCE Staff.
 - 1-2 Lobby Days in Olympia are planned annually depending on budget and legislative session timing.
- Coordinating with AS OCE Director of Legislative Affairs to actively monitor lobbying efforts of groups associated with Western (e.g. WWU Administration, Public School Employees (PSE), Western Advocates, Washington Federation of State Employees (WFSE), Western Academic Workers Union (WAWU), United Faculty of Western Washington).
- Working as Executive Board Liaison to relevant WWU and AS Legislative Offices including:
 - Attending state legislative meetings and committee hearings to testify when needed and in cooperation with the AS OCE Director of Legislative Affairs.
 - Providing strategic feedback on testimony and messaging of the AS Director of Legislative Affairs prior to them representing the ASWWU on any issue of legislative concern to ASWWU.
 - Communicating decisions of Legislative Affairs Council to the Executive Board regarding interpretation of the Legislative Agenda and priority legislative matters.
 - Regularly meeting with the WWU Director of Government Relations or their designee.
- Facilitating active student engagement with the Washington Student Association in collaboration with AS OCE and AS Governing Bodies.
 - Participate in WSA meetings as needed.

Ensure ASWWU members are properly represented in federal legislative issues by:

- Making official recommendations to the Executive Board regarding all relevant federal governmental affairs of concerning ASWWU members.

Ensure ASWWU members are properly represented in ASWWU Elections planning:

- Supporting ASWWU Election and Voter engagement efforts on campus in coordination with OCE and other campus staff.

Supporting efforts to increase ASWWU members' civic engagement by:

- Supporting and collaborating with AS OCE and other campus efforts to facilitate/host civic engagement outreach and education efforts, including but not limited to: hosting candidate forums on campus, Western Votes program efforts.

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance Advisor to revise and update position job description annually (if needed) prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position as appropriate.

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Chair, facilitate, and create agendas for:

- AS Legislative Affairs Council

Serve as a voting member on:

- AS Elections Advisory Committee when eligible (i.e. not running for re-election)

Attend meetings and serve as a voting member in the absence of the AS President for the:

- Washington Student Association

Serve on other Associated Students, University, or community committees, as necessary.

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040



Western Washington University

AS Vice President for Student Services Position Description 2024-25

About the Program & Position

The Associated Student Government at Western is charged by the President to represent the interests of the Associated Students of Western Washington University (ASWWU) in shared governance of the University. ASWWU Government is a two-body governing system, comprised of the AS Executive Board and the AS Senate.

The ASWWU Executive Board represents student interests to University Administration (Non-Academic Divisions, Departments and Programs), the Board of Trustees, and appropriate external governmental agencies. AS Executive Board positions are responsible for representing our students in issues concerning the University beyond the classroom.

One of the Executive Board's primary roles is to appoint Western Students to relevant AS and University Committees and decision-making groups to ensure student voices are well represented in official University processes.

Another important role is annual review and approval of the Associated Students Program Fiscal Year Annual Budgets.

There are seven elected student positions on the AS Executive Board. Each position is responsible for representing different interest areas of students in addition to serving on a variety of AS and University Committees.

The Vice President for Student Services acts as an official liaison between the ASWWU Executive Board and the WWU Division of Enrollment & Student Services programs such as: University Housing & Dining, Counseling & Wellbeing, Student Success Initiatives, Enrollment management, Student Life, and the AS Child Development Center. This position serves as a resource for all students on campus and in the community needing support for any concerns related to the areas listed above.

Term of the Position

This position starts the Saturday of Spring Commencement after ASWWU annual regular elections and ends the Friday of Spring finals week the following academic year. AS President can work up to 25 hours/week during Fall, Winter, and Spring Academic Terms excluding finals week. Limited Summer Term hours will be required for training and planning for the upcoming Academic Year. Work during intersession and breaks may be approved by AS Governance staff in certain circumstances.

Required Qualifications

Candidates/AS VP for Student Services must:

- Be enrolled six or more credits for undergraduate students and four or more credits for graduate students during upcoming Fall/Winter/Spring academic terms.
- Have a minimum of a 2.00 cumulative GPA at time of candidate filing and maintain throughout terms of service if elected.
- Be able to complete the entire term of the position.
- Be eligible for employment in the U.S. from the time of filing for candidacy through the full term of the position, includes DACA recipients.
- Be available for limited/occasional evening/weekend work throughout the Academic Year.

Preferred Qualifications

- Leadership experience.
- Strong commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion practices.
- Experience working with complex budgets.
- Working knowledge of the Associated Students organization.
- Experience with problem solving and conflict resolution in complex organizations.
- Ability to communicate accurately and effectively with a wide variety of groups.

- Public speaking skills.
- Previous council, committee or student government experience at Western Washington University.
- Demonstrated understanding of programs and services offered by the Division of Enrollment & Student Services.
- A working knowledge of the University governance system.
- Knowledge of current and past student movements on campus.
- Strong organizational and time management skills.
- Experience working in group situations or as a member of a team.
- Experience facilitating group decision making processes.
- Ability to balance multiple projects at one time.

Position Responsibilities

Ensure the effectiveness of Executive Board operations by:

- Attending all Executive Board trainings, retreats, meetings, and work sessions.
- Maintaining a regular weekly work schedule (available to AS Gov Advisors, SGAs and Elected Positions) to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the position.
 - Typical Regular Work Scheduled between 7am-9pm, M-F, includes scheduled office hours (see below).
- Avoiding any major academic or employment commitments that would conflict with the essential responsibilities of this position. (e.g., study abroad).
- Working with the members of the Executive Board in a cooperative and timely manner.
- Reporting major business at official meetings of the Executive Board as requested.
- Holding regular individual check-in meetings with designated AS Government Advisor and AS President.
- Identifying short and long term strategic goals for VP position, in alignment with AS Exec Board strategic goals.

Represent the interests of the student body of Western Washington University by:

- Devoting up to 19 hours per week to AS Executive Board business.
- Establishing and maintaining at least five publicly posted office hours per work week (Monday-Friday) to be available to constituents.
- Being available to constituents via email and by-appointment.
- Communicating with diverse groups of students on a regular basis.
- Holding the interests of the student body above any personal interests, aspirations or goals.
- Attending and representing students at all Associated Students, University, and other committee meetings under position purview.
- Coordinate with AS President to communicate regularly with WWU students concerning the decisions and actions of the AS Executive Board relevant to VP position. (e.g. Regular AS Newsletter updates, Official AS Gov Social Media Updates)
- Coordinating with AS President to pursue lines of communication to/within the university and seeking/facilitating opportunities for student representation in university-wide decisions in areas relevant to VP position.
- Representing the interests of WWU students on all issues that come before the AS Executive Board.
- Working with OCE Staff/AS Governance Advisor to recruit and fill student positions on committees related to this position.
 - Chair designated committees (See below)

Serve the diverse membership of the Associated Students in a professional and ethical manner by:

- Being familiar with and upholding the AS Constitution, all WWU policies, and all AS policies including the Personnel Policy, Code of Conduct, and Program Standards.
- Complete all mandatory training for AS Elected Positions and WWU Student Employees

Ensure the legacy of this position by:

- Working with an AS Governance advisor to revise and update position job description annually prior to election candidate filing.
- Working with AS Governance Advisor to plan for continuity of operations for the next individual in this position

as appropriate.

Ensure the interests of Associated Students are properly represented in areas related to student services by:

- Establishing and maintaining regular communications with relevant ESS Division Program leadership in order to communicate student concerns/ideas and collaborate as appropriate (including but not limited to):
 - Vice President of Enrollment & Student Services – monthly meeting
 - Executive Director University Residences or designee – monthly (or as needed)
 - AVP Counseling, Health & Wellness Services or designee - monthly (or as needed)
 - Executive Director, Office of Student Life or designee - monthly (or as needed)
 - Executive Director, Student Success Initiatives or designee - monthly (or as needed)
 - AVP Enrollment Management or designee - monthly (or as needed)
- Maintaining communication with Caregivers & Parents (CAP) group to support student needs.
- Acting as a liaison to University Residence Programs:
 - Residence Hall Association: Connecting the RHA with resources provided by the AS, supplying written reports on AS events and actions taken by the Board of Directors as designated in agreement with the RHA President, and attending key meetings as requested by the RHA President. Serving as a voting member on the Residential Advisory Committee.
 - Meeting as needed with the Residence Life Director and Assistant Director to share students' and student staff concerns about on campus dining services.
- Facilitating communication between students and WWU Administration on issues pertaining to ESS Division programs by:
 - Collaborating with appropriate staff to host community forums/listening sessions as needed throughout the academic year.
- Participating as a member of the VP for Enrollment & Student Services Student Advisory Council

Committee Responsibilities – May be subject to change based on committee updates throughout the year.

Serve as a voting member on:

- Central Health & Safety Committee
- Emergency Management Council
- Executive Dining Committee
- Counseling Health and Wellness Committee
- Sustainability Equity and Justice Fund Committee
- Alternative Transportation Fee Committee
- Residential Advisory Committee

Pay Rate

Estimated Starting Rate (2024-2025) is \$20.85/hr

Administrative Note: exact wage and total hours per week are subject to change pending final approval of AS Budget.

This position is exempt from civil services rules per WAC 357-04-040

Associated Students of Western Washington University

Election Code

Table of Contents

Article 1: Procedure for Running for ASWWU Elective Office	1
I. Filing and Mandatory Election Meeting	1
II. Campaigning	1
III. Voting Period	2
IV. Presentation of Results	2
Article 2: Ballot Measures (Initiatives & Referenda)	2
I. Initiative Filing	2
II. Referenda	5
III. Campaigning	6
IV. Authority	6
Article 3: Election Policies	7
I. Candidate Eligibility	7
II. Conduct	8
III. Campaigning and Advertising	8
IV. Endorsements made by AS Entities, RHA, and NRHH	12
V. Endorsements made by Clubs and Hall Councils	14
VI. Campaign Spending, Financial Disclosure Statements and Public Financing	15
VII. Grievances	18
VIII. Voter Eligibility	19
IX. Online Voting and Polling Stations	20
X. Ballot	20
XI. Ballot Counting	20
XII. Disqualification of a Winning Candidate	21
XIII. Recall of ASWWU Elected Officials and Special Votes for the Purpose of Recall	21
XIV. Special Elections for the Purpose of Filling Vacancies on the AS Executive Board	22
XV. Interpretation of the Election Code	23
XVI. Revision of the Election Code	23
XVII. Deadlines	24
XVIII. Ranked Choice Voting	24
XIX. Procedure	24
XX. Write-In Voting	25
XXI. Tiebreaking	25
Article 4: Definitions	26
XIII. General Definitions	26
XIII. Ranked Choice and Instant Runoff Definitions	27

Article 1: Procedure for running for ASWWU elective office

I. Filing and Mandatory Candidate Meeting

1. In order to run for elective office, individuals must meet all requirements outlined below:
a. *Be eligible to run for the position desired at the time of filing for candidacy* (see candidate eligibility requirements in Article 3, Section I of this Code).

b. File all required forms for declaring candidacy by 4:00 p.m. on the last day of the candidate filing period. Failure to turn in the filing form(s) by the deadline will result in disqualification. The Candidate Filing Form will be available in an online format on the first day of the candidate filing period.

i. The Candidate Filing Period shall last for at least 7 calendar days before the start of the Mandatory Candidate Meeting and the end of the filing period. In the event that the mandatory Candidate Filing Period would overlap with time when WWU is not in session, or during summer quarter for an election that will take place in a quarter other than Summer Quarter, the candidate filing period must be extended 7 calendar days beyond the time when WWU is next in session, or 7 calendar days after the beginning of Fall Quarter for elections that would have their mandatory Candidate Filing Period fall into Summer Quarter while not having their elections in Summer Quarter.

1. For special elections the Candidate Filing Period shall take place as outlined in their section of the Code.

c. Annual general elections shall take place during Spring Quarter, unless there is some extenuating event, such as a natural disaster, that necessitates the delay of the elections. The Elections Coordinator and the designated AS government advisor will determine if such an event has happened.

i. The general election may also be called earlier than the standard yearly period by the consent of all of the governing bodies of the ASWWU, as determined in their bylaws. If an ASWWU governing body has no members, it shall be considered to consent to any call for an earlier election, though this shall have no bearing on the consent of other ASWWU governing bodies to such an action.

b. _____

1) *Attend the Mandatory Candidates Meeting*

Formatted

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 4 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.75" + Indent at: 2"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Right + Aligned at: 1.38" + Indent at: 1.5"

3)4) Candidates are eligible for public campaign financing and must file financial statements regarding campaign expenditures. See Article 3, Section V of this Code for further details.

III. Voting Period

- 1) Voting for elective office, initiatives, and referenda shall begin at 12:00 a.m. on the first day and last until 4:00 pm on the final day of the elections for a 5–7-day period, the dates of which to be mutually agreed upon by the Elections Coordinator and the AS ~~Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~Advisor. In the event of technical difficulties with the election, the Elections Coordinator and the ~~AS Election Advisor~~ designated AS Government Advisor may extend the date of the close of the elections.
 - 4)a) In the event that technical difficulties delay the end of the election, the Elections Coordinator shall be required to publish a report detailing the technical difficulties in question, in the interests of public transparency.
- 2) In order to win an election to office a candidate must be elected according to the procedure outlined in Article 3 of this Code.

Formatted

IV. Presentation of Results

- 1) The Elections Coordinator, Ethics Board Coordinator, and ~~Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~designated AS Government Advisor shall certify the election results and report the election results that do not involve a pending grievance to the AS Executive Board and AS Student Senate at the Board and Senates's next regular meeting following the elections. For election results involving pending grievances, these results shall be certified at the next regular meeting of the AS Executive Board and AS Student Senate after these grievances have been resolved.

V. Investiture of Office

- 1) All duly appointed candidates shall be officially invested with the authority of their office at a time and by a method determined by their governing bodies' bylaws, or immediately upon certification of the vote, as according to this Code.

Formatted: List Paragraph, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Article 2: Ballot Measures (Initiatives and Referendum)

I. Initiative Filing

- 1) Any student eligible to vote in the AS elections may request that a question (hereto referred to as an initiative) to the student body be added to the ballot. A single student may sponsor no more than one (1) initiative total in any one election, either singularly or as part of a group, due to the demands on the sponsor. The sequential process for requesting approval of initiative language requires the sponsor(s) to:

- a) Create a question to be presented to the student body that can be answered in the affirmative or the negative.
 - b) Secure an ASWWU Elected Student Government Official to ~~evaluate the legality and feasibility of the initiative and~~ bring the question as an Agenda Item before the ASWWU Executive Board and AS Student Senate.
 - c) ~~Secure an ASWWU Elected Student Government Official to evaluate the legality and feasibility of the initiative and bring the question as an Agenda Item before the ASWWU Executive Board.~~
 - d) Declare under what Authority (see Article 2, Section IV) the initiative is being proposed with the submitted language.
 - e) Submit the language of the proposed measure, authority, and any supporting documentation to the ~~AS Student Government Program Coordinator designated~~ AS Government Advisor and the sponsoring ASWWU Elected Student Government Official by the document submission deadline, which will be ~~the first day of the candidate filing period~~ 7 calendar days before the candidate filing deadline. Students are advised to submit the language of the measure for review as early as is feasible.
 - f) Sponsor or delegate must attend the Executive Board and AS Student Senate Meetings where the question is discussed. The Executive Board and AS Student Senate must approve, approve with amendments, or reject the language within ~~their~~ next three meetings or within 21 calendar days, whichever is sooner. The Executive Board and AS Student Senate may only reject the proposed measure if its language is deemed misleading, or if there is reasonable concern about the legality of the proposed measure under local, state, or federal law, or Western Washington University policy, ~~or relevant AS policies~~. The Executive Board and AS Student Senate may only amend the language of the measure in a way that does not affect its substantive content. If the Board and AS Student Senate ~~does~~ not take action within three regularly scheduled meetings or 21 calendar days following the submission deadline, the submitted language will be considered to have ~~Board~~ Board and Senate approval.
 - g) Clubs and more than one student can sponsor one ballot measure
- 2) Once the language is passed through the above process, initiative sponsor(s) must *obtain student signatures on an official petition form for the measure totaling a minimum of five percent (5%) of the number of students enrolled at the main campus of WWU in the most closely preceding fall, winter, or spring quarter* that the initiative is to be put forth to the student body in, as determined by the WWU Registrar. Petition requirements include:
- a) Using the official petition form provided. The AS Student Government Program Coordinator will provide this form in person or online to the initiative sponsor no later than two school days after the passing of the language by the ASWWU Executive Board and AS Student Senate. A combination of both in-person and online petition forms may be used to acquire the needed signature amount. This petition form shall include: the name(s) of the sponsor(s) of the initiative, the academic year the forms were distributed, and the exact wording of the proposed initiative.
 - b) Students signing the petition must be currently enrolled WWU students at the Bellingham campus. Signers' WWU student number and printed name must be

included alongside their signatures. Illegible, duplicate or incomplete signatures will not be counted. If the language of the proposed measure is amended in any way during or after the signature gathering process has begun, then the signatures which were collected in favor of the original language will not be counted.

- c) Signatures obtained in favor of the placement of a measure on the ballot must be obtained during the current and/or immediately preceding ~~during the?~~ academic quarter in which the measure is sought to be placed on the ballot, or during the preceding spring quarter for measures proposed to be placed on the fall ballot, and only once the language has been approved by the ASWWU Executive Board.
 - d) Filing the petition and all required Initiative Filing Forms with the AS Student Government Program Coordinator by 4:00 p.m. on the same day as the candidate filing deadline.
- 3) Sponsor(s) must *attend the Mandatory Candidate Meeting*
 - 4) -Sponsor(s) of initiative opposition campaigns must meet with the Elections Coordinator before campaigning.
 - 5) Measures that have met these criteria and have been duly filed with the AS Student Government Program Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor by the filing deadline shall be placed on the ASWWU-~~Executive Board~~ elections ballot as a student initiative. The language of the initiative on the ballot must match exactly that of the duly filed measure.
 - 6) Opposition campaigns shall have an additional 7 days beyond the candidate filing deadline to file and submit an oppositional initiative filing form.
 - 7) One statement supporting and one statement opposing the initiative may appear on the ballot alongside the initiative, not to exceed 250 words. The supporting statement is the statement submitted by the initiative sponsor and must be submitted by the election candidate filing deadline. An opposition statement must be submitted by an initiative opposition campaign sponsor to the Elections Coordinator by 7 days after the initiative candidate filing deadline. Only one opposition campaign will be permitted, and only the first sponsor to duly file all required oppositional initiative filing forms for an opposition campaign will be accepted. The name of the organization(s) and/or person(s) making the statement shall appear on the ballot alongside the statement.

II. Referendum

- 1) A referendum to the membership of the ASWWU may be initiated by a majority vote of either the AS Senate or the AS Executive Board. Once the referendum question has been approved by the initiating branch of government, all materials required in the referendum filing form must be submitted to the AS Student Government Program Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor by the ~~first~~final day of the candidate filing period. Referenda thus submitted shall be included on the ballot during the regularly scheduled election.
- 2) Students may submit suggestions for referenda, including bylaw changes, to either branch of government. Suggested changes are due by the candidate filing period deadline but should be turned in as early as possible to allow the Executive Board or

Senate to complete a full review and vote on the suggested change. Students should contact the AS Student Government Program Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor for details.

- 3) Ballot referenda must be in the form of a question presented to the student body that can be answered in the affirmative or the negative.
- 4) Opposition campaigns shall have an additional 7 days beyond the candidate filing deadline to file and submit an oppositional referendum filing form.
- 5) All campaigning and advertising for and against referenda shall follow the guidelines set forth for initiatives in Article 2, Section. IV of this Code. For the purposes of this provision the elected official(s) sponsoring the referendum shall be considered the official campaign for the referendum. Referendum campaigns shall be required to file financial disclosure statements as outlined in Article 3, Section V of this Code. No operational AS funds or resources shall be used to campaign for or against a referendum with the exception of funds allocated through the AS public financing mechanism. Referendum campaigns shall be eligible for public financing.
- 6) A Referendum's sponsor must attend the Mandatory Election Meeting. Sponsor(s) of referendum opposition campaigns must meet with the Elections Coordinator before campaigning.
- 7) Organizations (AS committees and task forces) cannot campaign on behalf of the referendum they were created by, instead an Elected Student Government Official appointed by the Executive Board and Student Senate will act as the official campaign representative for the referendum.

III. Campaigning

- 1) The student(s) filing the ballot measure petition or opposition ballot measure, or campaigning for recurring referendum (see Section II, Sub-section g) shall be considered the official campaign and may campaign for its passage or opposition. Said student(s) may spend money, hold campaign meetings, recruit student volunteers and post, display, or distribute physical campaign materials subject to the same limitations placed on candidates for office and otherwise outlined in this code. Initiative campaigns shall be required to file financial disclosure statements as outlined in Article 3, VI of this Code. Initiative campaigns shall be eligible for public financing as outlined in Article 3, VI of this Code.
- 2) The campaign period shall be the same as other elections. No physical, online, etc. campaign materials shall occur outside of this period. See Article 3, Section III of this Code for further details.
- 3) Certain campaign activities are permissible outside of the campaign period. See Article 3, Section III of this code for further details.

IV. Authority

- 1) In order to pass, any initiative or referendum presented to the students for approval must receive a simple majority (50% +1) of the votes cast for that ballot measure.

- 2) A ballot measure that passes may be subject to the restrictions of WWU policy and other applicable laws.
- 3) A ballot measure has the following authority if passed by voters:
 - a) Instruct that the ASWWU Executive Board or Senate, within their purview, create, change, or terminate current AS policies.
 - b) Instruct the ASWWU Executive Board or Senate to pursue or not pursue some action.
 - c) Make a declarative statement on behalf of the ASWWU.
- 4) Change or termination of AS policies, procedures and actions may be subject to review and approval prior to implementation by an appropriate administrative body or employee(s) of WWU in accordance with WWU policies.

Article 3: Election Policies

I. Candidate Eligibility

- 1) The following eligibility requirements must be met by the end of the filing period, maintained through the campaign period and if elected, throughout the term of the position:
 - a) *Be enrolled as a student at the main WWU (Bellingham) campus* and be taking a minimum of six (6) credits as an undergraduate or four (4) as a graduate student.
 - i) Newly-admitted students who have confirmed their enrollment with the Admission Office prior to the candidate filing deadline but have not yet registered for courses are eligible as candidates in ~~special~~ elections as long as they become registered for and maintain the minimum credit load stated above during the quarter(s) coinciding with the election and the commencement of the term of elected office.
 - ii) Candidates who are already degree-seeking Western students and are enrolled for the minimum number of credits during spring quarter do not need to be enrolled in courses during summer quarter in order to remain eligible as a candidate for elected office and to begin the term in summer, as long as they will be a returning student in fall quarter.
 - b) Be in "good academic standing" as defined by the Registrar's Office.
 - c) Only students enrolled in a college may run for their senator positions. If a candidate either drops or switches their major (into a different college) before the end of the filing period, the candidate must run for the new college-specific Senate position that they are declared in. If a candidate either drops or switches their major (into a different college) after the end of the filing period, the candidate is no longer eligible for the election.
 - d) Students are able to run for an at-large Senate position regardless of their major status or lack thereof.

- e) Candidates running for the Senate President or AS President position must have completed at least fifty credits at Western or be enrolled at Western's main Bellingham campus for five quarters before the candidate filing period closes.
 - f) Be eligible for employment in the U.S. and at WWU.
- 2) Eligibility of candidates shall be verified by the Elections Coordinator and the ~~Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~ AS Governance Advisor prior to the opening of physical campaigning. ~~The Elections Coordinator may require additional information from candidates in order to ascertain eligibility.~~ Students found to be ineligible are subject to immediate removal from the ballot or ~~immediate~~ disqualification without the need for an Ethics Board hearing. The Elections Coordinator's decisions on eligibility may be appealed to the ASWWU Ethics Board.
 - 3) The Ethics Board Coordinator, Ethics Board members, Elections Advisory Committee voting members, and the AS Elections Coordinator are not eligible to pursue an AS elective position or to sponsor an initiative during the academic year in which they serve in their position.

II. Conduct

- 1) Candidates or any person otherwise involved in a campaign, including for ballot initiatives or referenda, will adhere to the Candidate conduct agreement provided in the candidate filing form.
- 2) Under no circumstances are drugs or alcohol to be present, available, or provided at campaign related events, regardless of location or participant age.
- 3) Bribes, incentives, or compensation in exchange for votes are prohibited.
- ~~3)4)~~ Failure to abide by these stipulations may result in disqualification and removal from the ballot.

III. Campaigning and Advertising:

- 1) The permissible and prohibited campaign activities in this Article apply to all students seeking or considering seeking elective office, seeking to place an initiative or referendum on the ballot, or campaigning for or against a measure on the ballot. This also extends to all students associated with a campaign.
- 2) The following campaign activities ***shall be permitted at any time:***
 - a) Declaration or announcement of intended candidacy or sponsorship of a ballot measure
 - b) Campaign meetings for the purpose of organizing the campaign or recruiting volunteers in which physical campaign material is not distributed, posted or displayed. For the purposes of this provision, volunteer sign-up sheets ~~and candidate petition forms~~ do not constitute physical campaign materials.
 - i) In the event of required or necessary social distancing or a natural disaster, people must follow laws required by state, local and federal governments, Western Washington University policies and official guidance and Associated student policies and official guidance.

3) The following campaign activities **shall be permitted only during the campaign period:**

- a) The distribution, posting or display of any physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4, subsection f of this Code, on the main campus of WWU, in locations specified by this Code and by the Elections Coordinator and excluding where such activities are prohibited by WWU policies.
 - i) In the event of required or necessary social distancing or a natural disaster, people must follow laws required by state, local and federal governments, Western Washington University policies and official guidance and Associated Student policies and official guidance when campaigning.
 - ii) ~~In the event, Western Washington University is functioning primarily in an on-line capacity during the campaign period, then no physical campaigning will be permitted.~~
- b) Online campaigning for elective office or ballot measure and the establishment of websites or web pages supportive of candidacy.
 - i) All websites and social media campaign pages must be declared via email to the AS Elections Coordinator.
 - ii) All website and social media campaign pages must be deleted or paused no later than seven calendar days after the voting period has ended.
 - iii) Instead of deleting their campaign account, candidates can pause them. In order for a website or social media page to be considered paused it must:
 - i) ~~(1)~~ (1) No longer post any content after ~~June 1st~~ seven calendar days after the end of the elections.
 - ii) ~~(2)~~ (2) including but not limited to videos, stories, reels, squares, and polls
 - iii) ~~(3)~~ (3) No longer send or respond to messages after ~~June 1st~~ seven calendar days after the end of the elections.
 - iv) Have a visible disclaimer provided by the Elections Coordinator posted prior to June 1st.
 - v) All previously established websites or social media pages may be reactivated with the approval of the Elections Coordinator so long as all previous content is deleted
 - i) (1) Candidates can only use their reactivated social media pages or websites after the campaign period opens.
 - c) (c) Events organized by campus organizations or departments in which candidates are invited to speak. For such events, all candidates for a given position must be invited and given a minimum of three (3) days' notice, and all candidates for a specific position invited to such an event must be given equal time of notice of any event. If any candidates decline the invitation or fail to respond, the event is permitted to continue without their presence.
 - d) (d) Funds may begin being spent on campaign activities in accordance with Article 3, VI of this Code.
 - e) (e) During the campaign period specified in Article 1, Section II of this Code, physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4, section I of this Code, **which are to be posted** may only be posted on free boards and on spaces on

Formatted

Formatted

Formatted

Formatted

Formatted

the outside of buildings, as designated by the Elections Coordinator (see Attachment A to this Code). Each Candidate is limited to posting one poster per free board. The maximum size of a piece of physical campaign material posted at any location shall be three feet by eight feet (3' by 8'). Yard signs or other physical campaign materials which are freestanding and/or anchored in the ground are prohibited. This provision only applies to physical campaign materials posted on WWU's campus.

~~h)~~f) During the campaign period specified in Article 1, Section II (a) of this Code, physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4, section f of this Code, **which are to be displayed or distributed but not posted**, may be displayed or distributed at any location on the main campus of WWU, except where their display or distribution is prohibited by this Code or by WWU policies.

- i) For the purposes of this provision, apparel, stickers, and buttons are an exception to the rule on displaying physical campaign material while they are displayed on one's person. Physical campaign material such as apparel, stickers, and buttons may **not** be worn by ASWWU student employees while acting in their official capacity as ASWWU student employees, including office hours, club meetings and any other general position meetings. "Official capacity" is any time in which an ASWWU student employee is working hours that can be logged into their timesheet.

~~h)~~g) Physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4, section I of this Code, and any adhesive used must be completely removed and cleaned up from any location on campus by the candidates or sponsor(s) of a measure who posted or distributed them by 4:00 p.m. on the third calendar day following the close of the elections. Candidates or sponsors of measures who fail to comply with this requirement shall forfeit up to \$25 of their public financing reimbursement or be charged up to \$25. In extreme cases, failure to comply with this requirement may result in the filing of an official grievance against a candidate or sponsor of a measure.

4) The following campaign activities **shall not be permitted at any time** for all students seeking or considering seeking elective office, seeking to place a measure on the ballot, or campaigning for or against a measure on the ballot. This includes students associated with a campaign.

- a) The posting or writing of campaign materials or messages of any sort on classroom chalkboards or whiteboards, or on screensavers or backgrounds of any campus computer.
 - i) -For writing on a chalkboard or whiteboard, messages encouraging voting turnout in general are allowed.
- b) The distribution, posting or display of any physical campaign materials on the main (Bellingham) campus of WWU, except at those times and places permitted by this code.

~~c)~~ ~~Disruptive in person~~ campaigning of any sort in the ~~interior~~ public spaces of WWU.

~~e)~~d) In person campaigning of any sorts in any non-public space of WWU, such as program offices, classrooms, and Residence Halls.

~~e)~~e) Posting any campaign material on a dating site.

- i) Including but not limited to Hinge, Tinder, Bumble, Grindr, etc.
- e)f) Verbal campaigning of any sort inside academic classrooms, with the exception of the announcement of a candidacy or the election events organized by the Elections Coordinator, clubs, and campus organizations as specified in this Code. One-on-one conversations of a personal nature regarding candidacy or election events are permitted in academic classrooms.
- f)g) Campaigning of any sort, including campaign activities listed in Article 3, Section III of this Code, shall be prohibited in the following locations during the time of the elections:
 - i) In any computer lab or within thirty feet (30') of a stationary computer station on the main (Bellingham) campus of WWU,
 - ii) Within thirty feet (30') of an official voting booth.
- g)h) ~~_____~~ The logos of AS offices, officially recognized AS programs, WWU offices, and AS councils- and committees (standing or ~~ad~~ ad hoc) may not be used on any campaign materials or campaign websites. For the purposes of this provision, campaign social media sites are able to share items related to the groups listed above but may not use these logos with any electronic campaign materials (e.g. profile picture, cover photo, etc.). The AS logo is an exception to this rule and may be used on campaign materials.
 - i) ~~Physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4, section I of this Code, and any adhesive used must be completely removed and cleaned up from any location on campus by the candidates or sponsor(s) of a measure who posted or distributed them by 4:00 p.m. on the third calendar day following the close of the elections. Candidates or sponsors of measures who fail to comply with this requirement shall forfeit up to \$25 of their public financing reimbursement or be charged up to \$25. In extreme cases, failure to comply with this requirement may result in the filing of an official grievance against a candidate or sponsor of a measure.~~
- h)i) Intentional tampering with any other candidate's or measure's campaign materials by any candidates, sponsors, or anyone affiliated with any campaign is strictly prohibited. Intentional tampering includes, but is not limited to defacing, unapproved removal, crossing out, marking on, or covering up of campaign materials. Intentional tampering constitutes grounds for the filing of an official grievance and may lead to disqualification. Unintentional damage to another candidate's campaign material must be reported to the Elections Coordinator and to the party affected immediately and must be remedied by the party causing the damage within a time frame specified by the Elections Coordinator.
- i)j) No AS funds or resources may be used to campaign for or against a candidate or measure on the ballot unless the resource is publicly available to all students or the funds are allocated through the AS public financing mechanism.

IV. Endorsements made by AS Entities, RHA, and NRHH

- 1) AS offices, officially recognized AS programs, AS councils and committees (standing or ad hoc), the Residence Hall Association (RHA), and the National Residence Hall Honorary (NRHH) may not endorse candidates or measures, and may not organize

events, spend money, or use any WWU or AS resources for or on behalf of a candidate or measure. ~~E~~except for hosting candidate forums and events. The logos of AS offices, officially recognized AS programs, AS councils and committees (standing or ad hoc), RHA, and NRHH may not be used on any campaign materials.

- 2) Measures may not be publicly endorsed at an AS sponsored event. Initiative and referendum sponsors may speak at AS sponsored events for campaigning purposes.
- 3) Candidates for election, sponsors of ballot measures and oppositional campaigns, and current ASWWU elected officials may make endorsements and may speak for or against any candidate or measure. Furthermore, students in these roles may identify themselves by their position when doing so.
 - a) Public financing made available through the Elections process is the only WWU or ASWWU resource that may be used by students in these roles to create communications for or against a candidate or measure.
 - b) Current ASWWU elected officials, shall not use any WWU or ASWWU resources when ~~speaking~~speaking for or against a candidate or measure, including but not limited to work email accounts, AS social media accounts, work computers, office space, office supplies, or anything of material value supplied by the university or ASWWU. The one exception to this Section is when an elected official is acting in their official capacity as a sponsor of a referendum campaign.
 - c) No current ASWWU elected official may use worktime to campaign. No WWU employee may use worktime to campaign.
 - b)d) All candidates, sponsors of ballot measures and opposition campaigns, and current ASWWU elected officials who endorse a candidate or measure or opposition of a measure must send notice of their endorsement to the Elections Coordinator no later than 3 calendar days of their official announcement of endorsement.
- 4) In their roles as individuals or students, current WWU and AS employees who are not elected officials may speak in support of or in opposition to candidates or measures, though they shall not identify themselves as a WWU or AS employee, identify their position within ~~the WWU or the~~ AS, or speak on behalf of ~~the WWU or the~~ AS when doing so.
 - a) Regarding the use of social media for endorsements, WWU or AS employees shall not make an endorsement on behalf of ~~the WWU or the~~ AS, their position, or their office, and shall not use any WWU or AS social media accounts for endorsements. Any endorsements, including any statement for or against a candidate or measure, must clearly originate from the individual and not appear to be related to ~~the WWU or the~~ AS or any WWU or AS positions.
 - b) WWU and AS employees shall not use any WWU or ASWWU resources when speaking as an individual who is for or against a candidate or measure, including but not limited to work email accounts, work computers, office space, office supplies, or anything of material value supplied by the university or ASWWU.
 - b)i) The WWU individual student email does not count as an official WWU resource.

Formatted

- c) WWU and AS employees, may, as individuals outside of their official position, work on a campaign for or against a candidate or a measure. AS Executive Board Members and Student Senators may work in their official capacity on a referendum campaign for which they are the official sponsor(s).
- 5) Any AS Employee whose position involves AS(?) election-related duties and who is seeking AS elective office, sponsoring a measure, or is otherwise affiliated with a campaign must delegate all AS Elections-related duties to another employee.

V. Endorsements made by Clubs and Hall Councils

- 1) Clubs and ~~Hall Councils~~Resident Planning Boards (RPB) may officially endorse candidates or measures of their choice starting on the first day following the Mandatory Election Meeting. Clubs or Hall Councils may not spend money or use any AS, department, or residence hall resources on behalf of or against a candidate or measure. This does not restrict Clubs or RPBs from using appropriate AS, department, or resident hall resources for the organization and running of general candidate events, in accordance with the sections of this Code regulating events.
- ~~4)2)~~ If a Club or RPB officially endorses a candidate or measure, the candidate must send notice of their endorsement to the Elections Coordinator within 3 calendar days of their official endorsement.
- ~~2)3)~~ Club or ~~Hall Council~~Resident Planning Board events are not required to be held for the endorsement of candidates.
 - ~~a) For the purposes of this Code, an "event" is a gathering, either online or in person, with an invitation extended to, or promoted to, the general campus community. Regular meetings of clubs or hall councils do not constitute an event.~~
 - ~~b)a)~~ If an event does occur, all candidates for that position must be invited and be notified at least 72 hours in advance via an email to their WWU student email which can be obtained from the Elections Coordinator. All candidate invitations for the same event must be made within the same day as each other. Candidates may reach out to clubs and ~~hall councils~~RPBs to seek endorsement with or without an event occurring to secure that endorsement. However, if an event does occur, the candidate who reached out to the club or ~~hall council~~RPB must make sure to invite all candidates for that position to the event at least 72 hours in advance. Ensuring the invitations are sent with the proper advance notice is the responsibility of the candidate who initiates the request for endorsement and the upcoming event.
 - ~~c)b)~~ If clubs or ~~hall councils~~RPBs reach out to endorse candidates and decide to hold an event, it is the responsibility of the club or RPB to reach out to the Elections Coordinator five school days in advance of the event.
 - i) Following the request from a club or ~~hall council~~RPB, it is the responsibility of the Elections Coordinator to invite all candidates for that position via their school email at least 72 hours in advance of the event. All candidate invitations to an event must be made on the same day.
 - ~~d)c)~~ An event can only occur, as long as all candidates for that position have been invited (they may decline), and the AS Elections Coordinator verifies the event is in accordance with the Elections Code.

- e)d) _____ If a violation does occur, refer to Grievances under Article 3, part VII.
- 3)4) _____ Candidates or measures may not be publicly endorsed at an AS or WWU(?) sponsored event. For the purposes of this Code, club meetings do not constitute AS sponsored events.
- 4)5) _____ Candidate use of club or RPB materials to imply support/endorsement is prohibited without club or RPB consent.

VI. Campaign Spending, Financial Disclosure Statements and Public Financing

- 1) Each candidate or sponsor of any measure on the ballot, shall be limited to making up to fifty dollars (\$50) in total campaign expenditures during the course of any election. Campaign expenditures shall include:
 - a) Any funds spent directly by the candidate or measure sponsor(s) in the course of a campaign;
 - b) Any funds spent on behalf of a candidate or a measure by a third party;
 - c) Any donated contributions to the campaign of a candidate or a measure by the candidate, ~~by the~~ measure sponsor(s), ~~or by~~ a third party. Valuation for any items donated to the campaign must be ~~approved~~ agreed upon by the Elections Coordinator;
 - d) Any funds spent in support of a public or private campaign related event for an individual candidate or measure sponsor;
 - e) Any campaign expenditures ~~refunded-reimbursed~~ through public financing.
 - f) Any funds spent on online advertising and social media campaigning.
- 2) The following items shall not constitute campaign expenditures:
 - a) Volunteered Labor;
 - b) Donated campaign related photography or design.
 - c) Tools used in a campaign that were not acquired specifically for the campaign. For instance, if a personal printer is used for printing posters, the cost of the printer need not be included as an expenditure.
- 3) Candidates, sponsors of initiative and referendum, and sponsors of initiative and referendum oppositional campaigns may only make campaign expenditures, or have them made on their behalf, from the opening of the candidate filing period to the deadline for submitting financial disclosure statements, which is to be set no ~~more~~ earlier than 3 business days prior to the close of the election period and no later than the final day of the election.
- 4) All candidates, sponsors of initiatives or, referendum, and sponsors of initiative or referendum oppositional campaigns must file a financial disclosure statement, even if no funds are spent or requested, to be submitted to the Elections Coordinator and to the AS Business Office by 4:00 p.m. on the stated due date for financial disclosure statements. Financial disclosure statements must include:
 - a) An itemized listing of all campaign expenditures by candidates and campaigns, as well as those made on behalf of candidates and campaigns by third parties, not including the costs related to general candidate events put on by clubs and WWU organizations.

- b) Copies of receipts (or screenshots of proof of payment) for all campaign expenditures, unless they have already been submitted through the public financing process.
- 5) Penalties for failing to file a financial disclosure statement and to fully and accurately disclose all campaign spending may include, but are not limited to, forfeiture of up to \$25 of public financing reimbursement or administrative charges of up to \$25. In serious instances of non-disclosure of financial expenditures or spending in violation of this Code, especially when the outcome of the election could have been affected, the Elections Coordinator may refer the matter to the Ethics Board for adjudication.
- 6) Public financing shall be available for approved campaign expenditures to candidates who have duly filed to run for elective office, as well as to the sponsor(s) of initiatives, referenda, and sponsor(s) of initiative and referendum opposition campaigns which have been duly filed and which are to appear on the ballot in elections. Each candidate shall be eligible for a maximum of fifty dollars (\$50) in public financing. Each initiative and referendum campaign and opposition campaign shall be eligible for a maximum of fifty dollars (\$50) in public financing. The total level of public financing available annually for all candidates and measure campaigns in total shall be capped at three thousand dollars (\$3,000). In the event that more candidates and campaigns duly file to run in the elections than the \$3,000 will cover, eligibility for the total amount of public financing shall be divided as follows:
- a) Initiative and referendum campaigns shall have first priority to the funds, and will each be funded \$50 if requested. An equal amount of money will be reserved for opposition campaign(s) in case campaign(s) are filed, since their filing deadline is a week later than the election candidate filing deadline.
 - b) If any funds remain after the full allocation of funds to referendum and initiative campaigns and opposition campaigns, the remaining funds will be divided equally among the candidates.
 - c) If there are insufficient funds to fully fund all initiative and referendum campaigns and their oppositional campaigns, the funds shall be dispersed equally among all initiative and referenda campaigns, including oppositional campaigns.
 - e)d) If the filing deadline for opposition campaigns passes and there exists set aside funds for opposition campaigns that have not been filed, these funds shall be no longer set aside and shall be distributed among the existing campaigns, consistent with all established procedures outlined in this Code.
- 7) Public financing shall be issued as a refund reimbursement for approved campaign expenditures by candidates and campaigns.
- 8) In order to receive public financing in the form of a refund reimbursement, candidates and sponsors of initiatives and referenda must:
- a) Submit an AS Expenditure Request with all relevant information filled out by 4:00 p.m. on the last day of the campaign finance disclosure filing period.
 - b) File a Request for Public Financing form with the Student Representation and Governance Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor by 4:00 p.m. on the last day of the campaign finance disclosure filing period.
 - c) Submit original receipts (or screenshots of proof of payment) for all campaign expenditures for which public financing is sought to the VU Finance Office by 4:00 p.m. ~~on~~ of the last day of the campaign finance disclosure filing deadline.

- 9) If a public financing request is filed, printing costs up to \$50 of items defined by Article 3, section VI, subsection 11 of this Code may be reimbursed and paid for during the campaign period, given such a request does not exceed the 50\$ total campaign expenditure limit and is done through a form filed and certified by the Elections Coordinator and the AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor.
- 10) Requests for refunds-reimbursements shall be reviewed by the Elections Coordinator and if approved shall be issued on a rolling basis by the VU Finance Office during and after the campaign period specified in Article 1, Cl. II (a) of this Code. All requests for refunds-reimbursements must be submitted together with original receipts (or screenshots of proof of payment) documenting the expenditures for which a refund reimbursement is being sought.
- 11) The following campaign expenditures shall be eligible for public financing only if original receipts (or screenshots of proof of payment) are supplied:
 - a) The costs of purchasing, printing and shipping physical campaign materials, as defined by Article 4 of this code.
 - b) Stationary, paper and office supplies purchased during the campaign period primarily in order to create and display physical campaign materials.
- 12) The following expenditures shall not be eligible for public financing, but still must be filed in the financial disclosure form:
 - a) Food or beverages of any sort.
 - b) Payments for labor associated with any campaign.
 - c) Any expenditure for which an original receipt (or screenshots of proof of payment) is not provided.
- 13) Campaign expenditures which do not fall into categories identified in the preceding two sub-sections may be approved for public financing at the discretion of the Elections Coordinator. Decisions by the Elections Coordinator regarding the eligibility of campaign expenditures for public financing may be appealed to the staff advisor designated AS Government Advisor for AS Elections.
- 14) In the event that physical campaign materials belonging to a candidate or measure sponsor are intentionally tampered with (as defined by Article 3, Section III (k)), the candidate can, with the Elections Coordinator's permission, report this item as a \$0.00 expense on their financial disclosure statement.

VII. Grievances

- 1) In the event that a candidate or any person associated with any campaign, initiative or referendum campaign (for or against) or any AS employee violates the Election Code and/or filing form(s) before or during the elections, any student (including an affected party, student who observed the violation, and/or the Elections Coordinator) may file an official grievance against that person.
- 4)2) A person may not file a grievance against themselves or a campaign to which they belong to, unless the Elections Coordinator consents to the filing of the grievance.
- 2)3) Grievances may not be filed anonymously, and all witnesses cited in a grievance must be named explicitly.

~~3)4)~~ Official grievances ~~may~~must be filed by submitting an official grievance form to the ~~AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~ designated AS Government Advisor, who will forward them to the Ethics Board Coordinator. If the Ethics Board Coordinator has not yet been hired at the time of filing, grievance forms shall be forwarded to the Office of Civic Engagement Director, who shall be authorized to assume the duties of the Ethics Board Coordinator until the time of their hiring. The date and time that the grievance is received shall be recorded upon filing. Grievance forms may be obtained ~~from the AS Executive Board Office~~online throughout the academic year during an elections season.

~~4)5)~~ Official grievances must be filed between 8 a.m. and 5 p.m. within two school days of the time of discovery of the alleged violation and must cite the specific Article of the Election Code ~~and/or filing form(s)~~ allegedly violated. Grievances filed that do not meet these requirements will not be accepted. Official grievances will be accepted only until two school days after the closing of the polls on the final day of the election period. Only the Elections Coordinator may file grievances outside of the time constraints of this Article.

~~5)6)~~ The Ethics Board will adjudicate grievances according to the procedures set forth in its Charge & Charter and in any adopted rules of operation. The Ethics Board may take any action deemed appropriate and necessary to ensure fair elections. All actions by the Ethics Board are final and may not be appealed, with the exception of disqualification.

~~6)7)~~ In the event of disqualification from an election, the disqualified party may appeal their disqualification by sending a written (digital or physical) request for appeal to the ~~AS Student Government Program Coordinator~~ designated AS Government Advisor (?) Ethics Coordinator within three (3) school days of the initial notification of disqualification. Appealed disqualification decisions will be heard by the AS Ethics Appeals Panel which will convene a hearing as soon as possible and no later than four (4) school days after the date of appeal. Decisions on disqualification by the Ethics Appeals Panel are final and may not be appealed. Candidates appealing a disqualification may not campaign for office until a decision about their disqualification is reached by the Ethics Appeals Panel.

~~7)8)~~ The Elections Coordinator may not serve on the Ethics Board or Ethics Appeals Panel, but may be required to provide information, reports, documentation, or to serve as a witness during the proceedings of these bodies.

~~9)~~ Penalties for violation of the Election Code ~~and/or filing forms~~ may include, but are not limited to, forfeiture up to \$25 of public financing reimbursement or administrative charges of up to \$25; disciplinary action; or disqualification.

~~10)~~ In the event of a grievance filed against the Elections Coordinator, the Elections Coordinator shall be required to abide by all procedures set out in this section, and the Elections Coordinator shall be required to recuse themselves from participating in any binding interpretation of the Code as outlined in Article 3, Section XV that relates to the grievance filed against them. In such cases the Ethics Board Chair or the Ethics Appeals Panel Chair shall have sole interpretive authority in regard to the grievance before them.

~~45)a)~~ Grievances may only be filed against the Elections Coordinator for which there is no alternative method of appeal regarding the issue already outlined in the Elections Code, such as procedural disqualification, or for instances where

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

the Elections Coordinator committed such grievance action with intentional malice toward the person who filed the grievance.

VIII. Voter Eligibility

- 1) Any student enrolled at the main (Bellingham) campus of WWU or studying abroad during the academic quarter in which elections take place is eligible to vote in those elections (must be registered for classes by the last day to add/drop classes for that quarter). Any full-time, part-time, undergraduate and graduate students who are registered for at least one academic credit at any WWU location where students pay Services and Activities Fees are eligible to vote in AS WWU elections.
- 2) All eligible students will vote by ranked choice voting.

IX. Online Voting and Polling Stations

- 1) All voting in AS elections shall take place online, unless the Elections Coordinator and AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator designated AS government advisor deem it impractical to do so, such as in the case of a special election. Eligible voters may vote online at any time between 12:00 a.m. on the first day of the elections to 4:00 p.m. on the last day of the elections.
- 2) In the event that the Elections Coordinator and AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator designated AS government advisor deem it impractical to use online voting in an upcoming election, paper balloting shall be used for voting and polling stations utilizing paper ballots may be implemented.
- 3) Candidates, Initiative sponsors, Referendum sponsors, opposition ~~i~~ initiative sponsors, or opposition ~~r~~ Referendum sponsors, or any person otherwise affiliated with a campaign may not establish or operate a polling station.

X. Ballot

- 1) The names of candidates running for election shall appear vertically under the title of the position for which they are running. If possible, the candidate order shall be randomized.
- 2) In the event of no candidates running to fill a position, then a candidate nomination box will be permitted. This box is not to be used for electing a candidate, its purpose is to help nominate people to apply for the unfilled position.
- 3) The names on the ballot shall read exactly as they appear on the candidates' approved registration form. If this is not possible, the candidate will be notified, and appropriate changes will be made by the Elections Coordinator before the ballots are published. The Elections Coordinator reserves the right to alter the name on the ballot if the candidate's provided name may reasonably lead to a misrepresentation of the candidate's identity. is misleading.
- 4) Ballots shall include duly filed initiatives and referenda.

XI. Ballot Counting

- 1) Ballots shall not be counted until polls have closed on the last day of the elections (with the exception of staying informed on voter engagement). The Elections Coordinator, Ethics Board Coordinator and the ~~AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~ designated AS Government Advisor or the advisor's designee shall count and/or supervise the counting of the ballots once polls have closed.
- 2) The Elections Coordinator ~~and the designated AS government advisor~~ is not permitted to use the voting software to reveal candidate standings or vote count numbers to anyone during the time of the election. Voting software should only be used for the purposes of working on the election and staying informed on voter engagement.
- 3) In order to protect the privacy of voters, ballots, once cast, shall not be viewed by any candidate, initiative sponsor, referendum sponsor, poll worker, or person otherwise involved in a campaign until the official counting after the close of the elections.
 - a) In the event of legal right to view ballots, names and other means of personal identification shall be stricken from the ballot.
- a)4) After the elections, access to previous elections ballots may be requested via public records request, or by staff of the Office of Civic Engagement for reasons relating to official office business.
- 4)5) On the ballots for Executive Board and Student Senate positions, winners will be determined through the process of ranked voting and the Instant Run-off Process described in Article 3 XVII of this code.
- 6) Initiatives and referenda will pass or fail based on whether the negative or affirmative choice receives the majority of votes.
- 5)7) A mandatory recount will be triggered for the election of any AS elected position or for any measure if the difference in the votes between the top two candidates or the affirmative and negative choices of a measure are less than one half of one percent point.

Formatted

XII. Disqualification of a ~~w~~Winning Candidate

- 1) If, after the conclusion of the elections, a candidate who has satisfied the requirements for winning a position specified in Article 1, ~~III (b)~~ of this Code is disqualified by the Ethics Board or by the Ethics Appeals Panel and chooses not to or is unable to appeal the decision, then the candidate receiving the ~~next second~~-highest number of votes for that position shall be declared the winner of the election, ~~even if as long as~~ that candidate has ~~not~~ satisfied all of the requirements for being elected to the position specified in Article 3 of this Code. In the event that all candidates are disqualified from the election, the position shall go unfilled.

XIII. Recall of ASWWU Elected Officials and Special Votes for the Purpose of Recall

- 1) Any member of the elected ASWWU Government may be recalled by a majority vote in a special vote. Recall is initiated by a majority vote of the Executive Board, a ~~three-fourths~~ majority vote of the Student Senate, or by a petition containing no less than forty percent of the number of votes cast in the last election. Any student enrolled at the main campus of WWU eligible to vote in ASWWU elections may file a petition seeking to end an ASWWU elected official's term of office. To do so, the student must:
 - a) Obtain an official petition form from the AS Board Program Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor. Official petition forms must be made available for pick-up within 3 school days of the date of request.
 - b) *Gather signatures on the official petition forms equal to forty percent (40%) of the number of students that voted in the last general election.* Signers must be students enrolled at the main campus of WWU eligible to vote in an ASWWU election. Signers' WWU student number and printed name must be included alongside their signatures. Illegible, duplicate or incomplete signatures will not be counted.
 - c) *Submit the official petition forms with the requisite number of signatures to the AS Student Government Program Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the date the petition forms were obtained.*
- 2) Official recall petition forms must include:
 - a) the date on which they were distributed;
 - b) the name and position of the ASWWU Government official for which recall is sought;
 - c) the reasons for the proposed recall;
 - a)i) Reasons for recall may include but are not limited to substantial dereliction of their duties; the statement of lies or mistruths made in bad faith by the official during their election campaign or during the administration of their position.
 - e)d) _____ the name(s) of the sponsor(s) of the proposed recall.
- 3) In the event that a duly filed recall petition with the requisite number of verified signatures is submitted or the Executive Board or Senate votes to initiate a recall for one of its members, a special vote election for the purpose of recall shall be scheduled by the Elections Coordinator. The special votes election shall begin no earlier than fourteen (14) calendar days and no later than twenty-one (21) calendar days after the date of filing or vote by the Executive Board or Student Senate. If this period falls during a time when WWU is not in session or during summer quarter, the votes special election shall be scheduled for immediately after the break, or at the beginning of fall quarter.
- 4) The campaign period for the special vote election for the purpose of recall shall last from the day of the filing of the recall petition or the recall vote to the last day of the votes special election. All regulations pertaining to campaigning in the regular elections shall apply to the special election to the degree that they are applicable.
- 5) The election period, election procedures and certification requirements for the special elections shall be determined by the last passed Election Code.
- 6) A member of the ASWWU Government shall be recalled, and their employment with the AS terminated, in the event that a majority (50%+1) of eligible voters voting in the special vote election for the purpose of recall vote for recall.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Right + Aligned at: 1.38" + Indent at: 1.5"

XIV. Special Elections for the Purpose of Filling Vacancies on the AS Executive Board and AS Student Senate.

- 1) Special elections may be called in order to fill a vacancy on the AS Executive Board, AS Student Senate, or via student petition as detailed below. In this event, the Elections Coordinator shall schedule special elections to begin no earlier than fourteen (14) days after the ~~date of the vacancy~~ calling of the special election to fill a vacancy.
- 2) The AS Executive Board and the AS Student Senate may call special elections to fill vacancies in their respective bodies according to their bylaws.
- 3) The AS Student body may call a special election to fill a vacancy via petition. To do so they must:
 - a) Obtain an official petition form from the designated AS Government Advisor. Official petition forms must be made available for pick-up within 5 school days of the date of request.
 - b) Gather signatures of students belonging to the college of the vacant position for Senate vacancies equal to forty percent (40%) of the college's total student population, or forty percent (40%) of the number of students that voted in the last student election for at-large Senate vacancies. Gather signatures of students on the official petition forms equal to forty percent (40%) of the number of students that voted in the last general election for Executive Board vacancies. Signers must be students eligible to vote in the election for the vacant position to be filled. Signers' WWU student number and printed name must be included alongside their signatures. Duplicate or incomplete signatures will not be counted.
 - c) Submit the official petition forms with the requisite number of signatures to the designated AS Government Advisor within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the date the petition forms were obtained.
- 4) Filing requirements for the special elections shall be the same as those for the regular elections outlined in Article 1, Section I of this Code.
- 4)5) The candidate filing period shall last from the calling of the Special Election to fill a vacancy until the day before the Mandatory Candidate Meeting.
- 2)6) The campaign period for the special elections shall last from 9:00 a.m. on the day following the Mandatory Candidate Meeting until 4:00 p.m. on the last day of the elections. All campaigning policies in this Code shall apply to the special elections as well, to the degree that they are applicable.
- 3)7) The election period, election procedures and certification requirements for the special elections shall be the same as the Election Code when possible, and modified by the Elections Coordinator and the ~~AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator~~ designated AS Government Advisor when it is not.
- 8) AS Executive Board and AS Student Senate Members elected in a special election shall be installed in their position immediately upon certification of the results of the special election. The certification procedure shall follow those laid out in Article 1, Section IV and V of this Code.
- 9) In the event that the position of Elections Coordinator is not filled, special elections to fill vacant positions may not be called.

Formatted

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

XV. Special Elections for Initiatives and Referenda

- 1) In the event that an Initiative or Referendum is duly filed at such a time that it cannot be put upon the general election ballot, a special election shall be called to consider the initiative or referendum.
 - a) For initiatives, this shall consist of all initiatives duly filed with their signatures during any quarter other than the one immediately preceding the quarter of the general election or during the quarter of the general election if the signatures are duly filed before the candidate filing period.
 - b) For referenda, this shall include all duly filed referenda passed by the AS government outside of the quarter immediately preceding the general election, that the passing bodies have marked to be considered immediately and not delayed to the next general election.
- 2) In the event that such an initiative is duly filed or referendum duly passed, the Elections Coordinator shall schedule a special election to begin sometime during the quarter that the initiative or referendum was filed, unless the initiative or referendum is filed in the three final weeks of the quarter, not counting finals week. If the initiative or referendum is filed in the three final weeks of the quarter the special election shall be scheduled to take place during the succeeding quarter, unless that would place a special election during summer quarter, where instead the special election shall be scheduled to take place in fall quarter instead.
- 3) The Election Coordinator shall schedule a Mandatory Candidate Meeting no less than 14 calendar days before and no more than 21 calendar days before the beginning of the voting period of the special election.
- 4) The campaign period for the special election shall run from 9:00 am on the first day following the Mandatory Candidate Meeting to 4:00 pm on the last day of the elections. All campaigning policies in this Code shall apply to the special election as well, to the degree that they are applicable, including financial filing requirements.
—Money for public financing shall come from the budget for the next general election, unless it is for any special election in spring quarter succeeding the general election, in which case it will come from the budget for that general election.
- 5) The opposition campaign filing period shall open 9:00 am the day after the filing of the initiative or referendum, and shall remain open until 7 calendar days after the Mandatory Candidate Meeting.
 - a) Opposition campaign filing requirements shall remain the same as in Article 2, sections 1 and 2 of this Code, except as outlined differently in this section.
- 6) The election period, election procedures and certification requirements for the special elections shall be the same as for the general elections as outlined in this Election Code when possible, and modified by the Elections Coordinator and the designated AS Government Advisor when it is not.

Formatted: Normal, No bullets or numbering

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

XVI. Special Elections for the Purpose of Breaking Ties

- 1) In the event that two or more candidates are tied after the rank choice voting process finishes, the tied candidates shall proceed to a special election.
- 2) The special election shall take place no sooner than 14 calendar days after the reporting of the tied election and no more than 21 calendar days after the reporting of the tied election, unless this timeframe would take place during when WWU is not in session, or

during Summer Quarter for elections that did not take place during Summer Quarter. If the election would fall during a time when WWU is not in session or during Summer Quarter for elections outside of Summer Quarter, the election shall take place no less than 7 calendar days and no more than 14 calendar days after WWU resumes session or Fall Quarter starts for delays caused by Summer Quarter.

- 3) There shall be no candidate filing period for special elections for the purpose of breaking ties, the only candidates allowed are those who were apart of the tie responsible for the calling of the special election.
- 4) The campaign period shall start at 9:00 am the day after the tie is officially reported, and shall run to the close of the elections. In the event that the elections are delayed due to WWU not being in session, or due to Summer Quarter, the campaign period shall be suspended until WWU resumes session or Fall Quarter starts for delays caused by Summer Quarter.
- 5) All campaigning policies in this Code shall apply to the special election as well, to the degree that they are applicable, including financial filing requirements.
- 6) Money for public financing for the special election shall come out of the budget of the general election that the special election for the purpose of breaking ties was called for.
- 7) The election period, election procedures and certification requirements for the special elections shall be the same as the general election as specified in this Election Code when possible, and modified by the Elections Coordinator and the designated AS Government Advisor when it is not.
- 8) The special election for the purpose of breaking ties shall be determined by rank choice voting if applicable.
- 9) The results of the special election for the purpose of breaking ties shall be reported to the Executive Board and the AS Student Senate at their next meetings after the certification of the vote by the Elections Coordinator, Ethics Board Coordinator, and the designated AS government advisor, whereupon the elected member shall be installed in their position immediately upon presentation of the results. The certification procedure shall follow those laid out in Article 1, Section IV and V of this Code.
- 10) In the event that a tie happens again during a special election for the purpose of breaking ties, both parties may consent to the use of random lots, to be preformed by the Elections Coordinator in a public space of WWU will all candidates present, to decide the winner of the election. If any candidate does not consent to the use of random lots, a new special election for the purpose of breaking ties shall be called.
- 11) Special elections for the purpose of breaking ties shall use the last passed elections code.

XVII. Universal Restrictions for Special Elections

- 1) In the event that the Elections Coordinator position is not filled, special elections may not be called, with the exception of special elections for the purpose of recall.

XV. Interpretation of the Election Code

- 1) The interpretation of this Code is primarily the responsibility of the Elections Coordinator, and all questions or matters of uncertainty should be directed to the Elections

Formatted: Space Before: 11 pt, After: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

Coordinator. When the Ethics Board or the Ethics Appeals Panel are in session, their respective chairs in collaboration with the Election Coordinator are the final authority on the interpretation of this code in regard to business that is before their respective bodies.

XVI. Revision of the Election Code

- 1) The Election Advisory Committee (EAC), convened by the Elections Coordinator or their designee, may propose revisions to this Code during the academic year, pursuant to the Committee's charge and charter. All proposed revisions by the EAC must be approved by the AS Executive Board [and AS Student Senate](#). The Elections Coordinator or their designee may also propose revisions to this Code without convening the EAC if those changes are either: (1) corrections of minor grammatical, spelling, format or syntax errors; or (2) changes to the year-specific dates, times and figures in this Code (i.e. dates, times and figures enclosed in square brackets). All proposed revisions by the Elections Coordinator or their designee must be approved by the AS Executive Board [and AS Student Senate](#). The Election Code may not be revised in any other way.
- 2) The Election Code may not be revised between the opening of the candidate filing period and the close of the elections.
- 3) In the event of a natural disaster, mandated social distancing or any other event that delayed the EAC, any necessary provisions to the code that need to be made after the opening of the filing period can be brought to the AS Executive Board [and AS Student Senate](#). This code cannot be changed after the campaign period has officially opened, regardless of circumstance.

XVII. Deadlines

- 1) Failure to adhere to any deadline in this code may result in the filing of a grievance.
- 2) It is the full responsibility of the candidate to keep in contact with the Elections Coordinator, should a potential violation of the Election Code occur. All candidates are given up to ~~36~~48 hours to respond to the Elections Coordinator. Failure to do so will result in the filing of a grievance. The official form of communication is email.

XVIII. Ranked Choice Voting

- 1) All ASWWU elected positions qualify for Instant Runoff Voting.
- 2) When a race for ASWWU elected office has at least three candidates ranked choice voting will be used.
- 3) The Elections Coordinator shall print the contest on the General Election ballot in a manner that will allow voters to rank their ~~top three?~~ candidate choices.
- 4) Each voter shall have the opportunity to- rank as many or as few candidates as they desire on each ballot.
 - a) Voters will also be provided an opportunity for one Write-In option in the ranked contest if there are no other candidates on the ballot.

- 5) If a candidate receives a majority of the first choices, that candidate shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives a majority of first choices, an instant runoff consisting of additional rounds of ballot counting shall be conducted.
- 6) If no candidates run for a position the seat will be decided through a special election in the fall or by appointment by the Executive ~~Board~~ Board and AS Student Senate for appointments to their respective bodies and via their bylaws, and the discretion of the Elections Coordinator and AS Student Representation and Governance Coordinator designated AS Government Advisor.

XIX. Ranked Choice Voting Procedure

- 1) Initially, the first choice votes in the ranked choice contest are tallied.
 - a) If no candidate receives more than 50% of the votes, the candidate with the fewest first choice votes is eliminated.
- 2) Next, the votes that had been cast for the defeated candidate are then recast for the next choice remaining candidate selected on those ballots; or until the vote is nullified, if no subsequent choice is for a remaining candidate the vote is nullified if there are no subsequent choices for remaining candidates.
- 3) This process continues until a candidate has received more than half (50%+1) of the votes cast.

XXI. Tiebreaking

- 1) If the top Write-In candidate receives less votes than the top two candidates whose names are printed on the ballot, all Write-In votes will be recast for the next choice remaining candidate or until the vote is nullified if no subsequent choice is for a remaining candidate.
- 2) After the tie-breaker process is complete, the tie vote candidate in the scenario that generates the most votes received for that candidate shall be retained for the next round of Ranked Choice Voting. The other tie vote candidate(s) shall be deemed defeated and the next available ranking from those ballots shall be applied to the remaining candidates.
 - a) If a tie vote remains amongst the originally tied candidates after the tie-breaker process, all tied candidates shall be eliminated and the next available ranking from those ballots shall be applied to the remaining candidates.
- 3) If two candidates are tied with the highest votes received after all other candidates have been eliminated and neither has received 50% +1 of the total ballots cast, then the remaining two candidates will advance to a special election.

Article 4: Definitions

I. General Definitions

- 1) By "WWU", this Code refers to Western Washington University.
- 2) The "main campus" of WWU is the university campus located in Bellingham, Washington.
- 3) By "AS", this Code refers to the Associated Students of Western Washington University.
- 4) A "school day" is a weekday (Mon.-Fri.) during which classes are in session on the main campus of WWU. A day during which all classes are cancelled on the main campus of WWU for any reason, even if such a day falls during a regularly scheduled academic quarter, does not constitute a school day for the purposes of this Code.
- 5) By "academic year" this Code refers to the period extending from the first day of the fall quarter of WWU to the last day of its subsequent spring quarter.
- 6) "Physical campaign material", for the purposes of this Code, includes, but is not limited to, posters, handbills, fliers, signs, banners, buttons, T-shirts or other clothing and any physical object which may be deemed by a reasonable person as constituting campaign material for or against a candidate or a measure.
- 7) By "Work on a campaign", as used in Article 2, Section IV, Sub-section (d), for the purpose of this code, is defined as, but is not limited to, distribution of physical campaign materials, verbal campaigning, and management or active participation in a social media pages or use of personal resources.
- 8) "Work" is not defined as advice and conversation about the position, or campaigning in general.
- 9) "Polling Stations", for the purpose of this code, are defined as instruments made available or advertised to the general public that enable an eligible voter to cast a ballot for the AS Elections.
- 10) "Declarative Statement", for the purpose of this code, is the statement of an official position. It is not a policy change or policy action.
- 11) A candidate's "Name" is defined in this code as the candidate's legal or preferred name as registered with Western Washington University. A candidate reserves the right to alter certain elements of their name such as withholding a hyphenated surname or middle name with the approval of the Elections Coordinator.
- 12) "Misleading" for the purpose of this code is defined as, but not limited to, inaccurate information, language that is inaccessible or serves to obscure the intent of the initiative, language which includes conflicting or separate proposals with no logical connection between proposals, or which misrepresents current AS policy or procedure.
- 13) "Tampered" as used in Article 2, Section IV (k) is defined as the active destruction of campaign materials whether by removal, obfuscation, or defacement in such a way that the materials can no longer be clearly interpreted or are inappropriate.
- 14) "Individual" as used in Article 3, IV ~~(e)~~(4) is defined as a person acting in their student capacity without any attachment to the AS or an AS position title.
- 15) "Event" as used in Article 3, ~~sub-section 4~~Section V is a gathering either online or in person with an invitation extended to, or promoted to, the general campus community, in whole or in part. Regular meetings of club or hall council do not constitute an event.
- 16) "Initiative" as used in Article 2, Section I is defined as a question brought forward by any student eligible to vote in the AS elections asked to the student body on a ballot.
- 17) "Referendum" as used in Article 2, Section II is defined as a question initiated by a majority vote of either the AS Senate or the AS Executive Board asked to the student body on a ballot.

18) Business Days – Monday through Friday 8am-5pm with the exception of National holidays

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

19) “Donated Contributions” as used in Article 3, section VI is defined as any items or services contributed to a campaign that a candidate or sponsor would be required to report if they were to own or purchase the item directly; items exempted from campaign expenditures are still exempted when given as a donated contribution. For donated tools to a campaign to keep their expenditure exemption, only their use may be loaned to a campaign, unless given as a gift given without the intent to be used in a campaign. Paper and other supplies used in these loaned tools must still be reported as a campaign expenditure.

20) “Campaign Related Event” as used in Article 3, VI, 1, (d), is defined as any event wherein the purpose of the event is related to the campaign of any candidate or measure for or opposition campaign, AS elections in general, or any other event that would fall under events wherein invites are required to be sent out to all candidates for the same position as defined in Article, V.

21) “Establish or Operate” as used in Article 3, IX, 3, is defined as the setting up and/or operation of a polling station, whether in conjunction with the Elections Coordinator and the Office of Civic Engagement or informally and independently.

22) “Nominate” as used in Article 3, X, 2, shall mean for the purpose of this Code that upon the certification of the election, the Elections Coordinator will present the nomination to the governmental body for which the position is a part of in addition to the presentation of the elections results to the Executive Board. The body that the nomination was presented to will then use that nomination to inform their process to fill the vacant position as defined in their bylaws.

23) “Sponsors” as used in this Code is defined as the primary person(s) responsible for Initiative and Referendum campaigns and opposition campaigns and of the campaigns for recall of elected AS officials. Sponsors shall be to whom grievances against a campaign are filed, unless a grievance can be assigned to the actions of a single person acting without direct or indirect encouragement or instruction by the sponsor(s) of the campaign.

24) “Candidate” as used in this Code refers to a person who has duly filed to run for an AS elected position. Candidates shall be to whom grievances against a campaign are filed, unless a grievance can be assigned to the actions of a single person acting without direct or indirect encouragement or instruction by the candidate of a campaign.

25) “Endorsement” as used in Article 3, IV and Article 3, V, is defined as the statement by a club or Resident Planning Board expressing official support or opposition of a candidate or measure by said club or Resident Planning Board.

26) “AS Sponsored Event” as used in Article 3, IV, 2, is defined as any event hosted or sponsored by an ASWWU Student Fee funded program, office, club, or individual acting in an official AS capacity.

27) Business Days – Monday through Friday 8am-5pm with the exception of National holidays

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

28) “WWU not in session” as used in Article 3, XV, is defined as any time when Western Washington University is not in an academic quarter that WWU is offering regularly scheduled classes.

29) “Substantive” as used in Article 2, I, 1, (f), is defined as any changes that significantly alter the meaning or effects of a proposed initiative. Grammatical and clarifying edits do

not count as substantive changes unless they would significantly alter the meaning or effect of the initiative, as specified above.

30) "Technical difficulties" as used in Article 1, III, 1, and the rest of the Code is defined as any instance where significant network, software, or WWU website issues would prevent the creation or dispersal of an electronic ballot by the Elections Coordinator in a reasonable and timely matter for the election in question.

47) "Deem it impractical to do so" as used in Article 3, IX, 1, is defined as any instance where technical difficulties, as defined above, or other significant barriers such as special elections mandating quick elections periods prevent the reasonable and timely creation of an online ballot.

II. Ranked Choice and Instant Runoff Definitions

- 1) Tallied Vote - When the voter selects a candidate that has not been eliminated, without over voting the ranking to be counted, the vote is cast and tallied for that candidate.
- 2) -Remaining Candidate - A candidate that has NOT been defeated.
- 3) Defeated Candidate - A candidate that HAS been eliminated.
- 4) -Skipped Ranking - When a voter chooses to NOT select a candidate whose name is printed on the ballot or write-in a candidate name in one or more of the available rankings.
- 5) Over Vote - When the voter selects more than one candidate as their first choice or any subsequent choice that is to be counted, the vote is nullified and tallied as an over vote.
- 6) Under Vote - When voter skips all rankings, with no first, second or third choice candidate or write-in selected, the vote is nullified and tallied as an under vote.
- 7) Exhausted Vote - When all the choice selections made by the voter in the RCV contest have been eliminated, the vote is nullified and tallied as exhausted.
- 8) Nullified Vote - Over Votes, Under Votes and Exhausted Votes are considered nullified RCV votes and are not utilized to determine the 50% plus one number of votes needed to win.

Business Days – Monday through Friday 8am-5pm with the exception of National holidays

Revised and Approved by the ASWWU Executive Board on [May 6th, 2021 by Motion ASB-21-S-].

The complete Election Code contains the following:

- Attachment A: Approved Building Posting Locations
- Attachment B: University Residences Solicitation Policies

Year 1 (24/25)

Sustainability, Equity, and Justice Fund
 AS Student Opportunities Council
 AS Transportation Advisory Committee
 AS Student Advisory Committee

Year 2 (25/26)

AS Legislative Affairs Council
 Elections Advisory Committee
 AS Elections Ethics Board
 AS Opportunity Council
 Student Technology Fee Committee

Year 3 (26/27)

AS Activities Council
 AS Finance Council
 AS Queer Guild Council
 AS Student Trustee Selection Committee

Referendum to Address Food Security at WWU

Officially sponsored by Lola Thompson, Devin Moreno, and Dacey Durbin

With support from Reed Riker, and other WWU students

UNDERSTANDING FOOD INSECURITY

For students at Western Washington University, food insecurity is a regular issue. The office of Student Life has identified that nearly 50% of students experience food insecurity on at least a monthly basis. This is a staggeringly high number which is likely to have grown since the 2021 survey. The Swipe-out-Hunger program has been discontinued until further notice through the transition to Chartwells, and prices on campus and elsewhere have continued to climb.

Commented [LT1]: Check for updated data

Students need more support in meeting their basic needs on campus, and it is the responsibility of all administrative and operational departments within Western Washington University and the Associated Student Body to address the dynamic pressures which result in food insecurity. Through conversations with students and staff, the following dynamic pressures leading to food insecurity have emerged:

1. **Insufficient Funding:** One of the leading causes of food insecurity is a lack of student funds. Students have repeatedly expressed a strong reluctance to use the on-campus markets due to the high costs. Many students live paycheck-to-paycheck and need opportunities to stretch their dollar. Since these opportunities are limited on campus, many students have access to food for the first half of the quarter but go hungry through finals.
2. **Limited Options:** Students are under strict time pressures and are limited in their ability to access affordable, off-campus markets. There are currently no spaces on campus for students to get staple foods or ingredients, especially for those with dietary restrictions. This limits the capacity of students to develop and employ their cooking and budgeting skills.
3. **Barriers to Benefits:** Students are uniquely vulnerable to food insecurity because they are often ineligible to access state and federal food security programs. These programs are challenging to access because of their confusing and strict criteria pertaining to students.

PROPOSAL

Though students and staff are actively working to address each of these points, the Associated Student body has the capacity to help students with insufficient funding. Thus, we would like to ask the student body the following question:

Shall all AS WWU voting members, attending courses on the Bellingham Campus, approve a \$1 per quarter fee to support the on-campus food pantries?

SPECIFICATIONS

Starting with the onset of Fall Quarter 2024, the AS shall collect a \$1 fee from full-time students who do not opt-out of this program. This fund shall be used in collaboration with on-campus food pantries to establish a reliable stock of free food for students. These funds shall be administered to the AS's WHOLE food pantry and used to bolster the food stock of recognized on-campus food pantries as the WHOLE sees fit.

Quarterly = fws

AS VP for Governmental Affairs' Review of the 2024 WA Legislative Session

1200 bills were introduced this session, 340 made it to the Governor's desk.

SURVIVED: 2/3s of the bills on the ASWWU's Legislative Agenda passed!

- **Financial Aid**
 - [SB 5904](#) Extending the terms of eligibility for financial aid programs from 5 to 6 years of eligibility.
 - [HB 1946](#) Creating the Washington health corps behavioral health scholarship program.
 - [SB 5953](#) Concerning financial aid grants for incarcerated students.
- **Health and Wellness**
 - [HB 2112](#) Concerning opioid and fentanyl prevention education and awareness at institutions of higher education.
 - [HB 1958](#) Concerning nonconsensual removal of or tampering with a sexually protective device.
 - [HB 1929](#) Supporting young adults following inpatient behavioral health treatment.
- **Student Employment**
 - [HB 1889](#) Allowing persons to receive professional licenses and certifications regardless of immigration or citizenship status.
- **Sustainability**
 - [HB 2301](#) Improving the outcomes associated with waste material management systems, including products affecting organic material management systems.
- **Bills the LAC considered for the Legislative Agenda**
 - [HB 1905](#) Including protected classes in the Washington equal pay and opportunities act.
 - Gun violence prevention
 - [HB 1903](#) Reporting lost or stolen firearms.
 - [HB 2118](#) Establishing additional requirements for the business operations of licensed firearms dealers.
- **Other bills, not on the agenda**
 - [SB 5462](#) Promoting inclusive learning standards and instructional materials in public schools. (LGBTQ+ history)

Did not pass this session:

- **Financial Aid**
 - [SB 5999](#) Expanding financial aid eligibility for the WCG to 70% MFI.
- **Housing Affordability**
 - [HB 2114](#) Improving housing stability for tenants subject to the residential landlord-tenant act and the manufactured/mobile home landlord-tenant act.
 - [HB 2160](#) Promoting community and transit-oriented housing development.
- **Student Employment**
 - [SB 5895](#) Concerning collective bargaining for certain employees enrolled in academic programs at public institutions of higher education.
 - [SB 5631](#) Requiring state agencies to clearly identify programs and services which accept applicants with deferred action for childhood arrival status.
- **Health & Wellness**
 - [HB 2242](#) Supporting sexual assault survivors at institutions of higher education.
- **Sustainability**
 - [HB 2070](#) Provides protection and a platform for communities that have been disproportionately affected by environmental injustices.
 - [HB 2049](#) Requires companies that create packaging to fund state recycling services.
 - [SB 6052](#) Concerning petroleum products supply and pricing.

Let's Go Washington Initiatives

- **Passed by the Legislature**
 - [I-2111](#) Concerning taxes on personal income.
 - [I-2081](#) Concerning parental rights relating to their children's public school education.
 - [I-2113](#) Concerning vehicular pursuits by peace officers.
- **Going on the ballot in the 2024 General Election**
 - [I-2117](#) Concerning carbon tax credit trading.
 - [I-2109](#) Concerning taxes on long-term capital assets.
 - [I-2124](#) Concerning state long-term care insurance.

Associated Students of Western Washington University Constitution

Preamble

~~We, the~~ The Associated Students of Western Washington University, ~~has~~ have the right and responsibility to serve as a resource and advocate for all students. For this purpose, the ~~governing bodies of the~~ Associated Students of Western Washington University Student Government shall govern on behalf of the ASWWU membership to; (1) represent student interests and opinions to the University Administration, the Board of Trustees, ~~academic-faculty~~ governance structures, and appropriate external government ~~bodies/agencies~~, (2) support student success in their academic endeavors, (3) foster students' rights and responsibilities, ~~(4)~~ and inform students on the proceedings of the Associated Students and of the University, and ~~(5)~~ 4 promote the general welfare of all students.

Article I. Name & Membership

Section A – Name

This association shall be known as the Associated Students of Western Washington University, hereinafter called the ASWWU.

Section B – Voting Membership

Consistent with the ASWWU Student Government Charter, the voting membership of ASWWU shall include all full-time, part-time, graduate, and undergraduate students who are registered for at least one academic credit at any WWU location where students pay Services and Activities Fees.

~~Article II. Membership~~

~~Section A – Qualification~~

~~The membership of the ASWWU shall consist of all persons who are currently enrolled students at Western Washington University.~~

~~Section B – Assignment of Rights of Membership~~

~~No rights or privileges of membership in the ASWWU, including that of the right to vote, shall be assignable by any member. Each member shall have one vote at a meeting of the whole ASWWU.~~

Article II. Elections

Section A – General Elections

~~Section C – Annually, during spring quarter, the voting membership of the ASWWU shall decide proposed referenda, initiatives and elect its officers to the ASWWU Government (Article III). Terms begin on the Saturday of spring commencement and end the Friday of spring finals week after one academic year. Election results shall be certified by the Office of Civic Engagement.~~

~~Executive Board elections shall be held during spring quarter. Terms begin on the Saturday of spring commencement and end the Friday of spring finals week after one academic year. Election results shall be acknowledged by the Student Senate.~~

~~Student Senate elections shall be held during spring quarter. Terms begin on the Saturday of spring commencement and end the Friday of spring finals week after one academic year. Election results shall be acknowledged by the Executive Board.~~

Section B – Special Elections

Special elections may be held at any time for the purpose of deciding recalls, filling vacant elected positions, or deciding ~~initiatives and referenda~~ issues concerning students.

Section C – Referendum

A referendum to the membership of the ASWWU may be initiated by a majority vote of the Executive Board or Student Senate and included in any election.

Section D – Initiatives

To be included on an election ballot, an initiative proposed by the ASWWU membership requires a petition containing the verified signatures of no less than forty percent (40%) of the numbers of votes cast in the last general election as defined in the Election Code. An initiative measure shall be referred to the membership of the ASWWU upon receipt of a petition containing the verified signatures of no less than five percent of the membership of the ASWWU.

Section E – Recall

Recall of any elected member of the ASWWU government may be initiated by: a majority vote of the Executive Board, a ~~three-fourths~~ majority vote of the Student Senate, or by a petition containing no less than forty percent of the number of votes cast in the last election. The removal of the elected member shall then be decided by the membership of the ASWWU via a ~~recall~~ special election.

Section F – Election Code

The Office of Civic Engagement, via committee, shall maintain an election code. The provisions set forth in the ASWWU election code shall apply to all general elections, special elections, referenda~~um~~, initiatives, and recalls regarding process and deadlines. The election code shall conform to this constitution. If any provision of the election code conflicts with this constitution, that provision will be null and void. The election code shall not be changed during an active election. Election results shall be verified as fair and appropriate by the ~~Office of Civic Engagement~~ AS Elections Coordinator.

Article III. Governing Structure

Section A – ASWWU Government

The ASWWU Government shall be the governing board of the ASWWU. It shall consist of an Executive Board and a Student Senate. The rights and responsibilities for shared governance of the whole ASWWU are vested in these two bodies.

Section A – Executive Board

The Executive Board shall consist of the following elected ~~officers~~members:

1. ~~AS~~ President, Chair of the Executive Board
- ~~2. AS Senate Pro Tempore~~
- ~~3. 2. AS~~ Vice President for Activities
- ~~4. 3. AS~~ Vice President for Diversity
- ~~5. 4. AS~~ Vice President for Governmental Affairs
- ~~6. 5. AS~~ Vice President for Student Services
6. ~~AS~~ Vice President for Sustainability
7. Vice President for University Operations

Section B – Student Senate

The Student Senate will consist of the following elected ~~officers~~members:

1. ~~AS~~ Senate ~~President~~Pro Tempore, Chair of the Student Senate (~~non-voting except in the case of ties and procedural matters~~)
2. Two Student Senators from each of the following colleges:
 - a. College of Business and Economics
 - b. College of Fine and Performing Arts
 - c. College of Humanities and Social Sciences
 - d. College of Science and Engineering
 - e. Fairhaven College of Interdisciplinary Studies
 - f. Graduate School
 - g. ~~Huxley~~ College of the Environment
 - h. Woodring College of Education
3. Four Student Senators to represent students at-large

Section B – Permanent Bodies

1. A Conference Committee shall be chartered by the Executive Board and Student Senate to resolve differences in respective versions of any action they both take and ensure joint governance. No single body shall have sole authority over the Conference Committee, both bodies shall be equally reflected in membership of the committee and include the Chair of each body.
2. An Elections Committee shall be chartered by the Office of Civic Engagement. This committee will maintain the elections code (Article II, Section F). The ASWWU Government shall have no authority over the Elections Committee but may be represented on the committee.
3. An Ethics Board shall be maintained by the Office of Civic Engagement. This board will ensure that the elections of the ASWWU are ethically handled. The ASWWU Government shall have no authority over the Ethics Board.

Article IV. Meetings of Governing Bodies

Section A – Quorum

A majority of currently seated ~~officers members~~ shall constitute a quorum for all governing bodies of the ASWWU. ~~The governing bodies may only take final action when a quorum is present.~~

Section B – Voting

In order for a motion to pass, it must obtain a majority of the legal votes cast.

Section C – Open Public Meetings (RCW 42.30)

All meetings ~~of the Executive Board and Student Senate~~ shall adhere to the Open Public Meeting Act of Washington State with notice to the public at least twenty-four ~~(24)~~ hours in advance.

~~Article V. Article I. Elections~~

~~Section A – General Elections~~

~~1. Executive Board elections shall be held during spring quarter. Terms begin on the Saturday of spring commencement and end the Friday of spring finals week after one academic year. Election results shall be acknowledged by the Student Senate.~~

~~2. Student Senate elections shall be held during spring quarter. Terms begin on the Saturday of spring commencement and end the Friday of spring finals week after one academic year. Election results shall be acknowledged by the Executive Board.~~

~~Section B – Section A – Special Elections~~

~~Special elections may be held at any time for the purpose of deciding recalls, filling vacant elected positions, or deciding issues concerning students.~~

~~Section C – Section A – Referendum~~

~~A referendum to the membership of the ASWWU may be initiated by a majority vote of the Executive Board or Student Senate and included in any election.~~

~~Section D – Section A – Initiatives~~

~~An initiative measure shall be referred to the membership of the ASWWU upon receipt of a petition containing the verified signatures of no less than five percent of the membership of the ASWWU.~~

~~Section E – Section A – Recall~~

~~Recall of any elected member of the ASWWU government may be initiated by: a majority vote of the Executive Board, a three-fourths majority vote of the Student Senate, or by a petition containing no less than forty percent of the number of votes cast in the last election. The removal of the elected member shall then be decided by the membership of the ASWWU via a recall election.~~

~~Section F – Section A – Election Code~~

~~The provisions set forth in the ASWWU election code shall apply to all general elections, special elections, referendum, initiatives, and recalls regarding process and deadlines. The election code shall not be changed during an active election. Election results shall be verified as fair and appropriate by the AS Elections Coordinator.~~

Article VI. Article V. Powers and Granted Authorities

Section A – ASWWU

The ASWWU shall hold all rights associated with its recognition as a recognized student association under state law.

1. To be represented by majority student voting membership and a student chair or co-chair, in consultation with the University President or designee, on all committees overseeing and appropriating student fees and student fee dollars with exception to operating and building funds.
2. To employ student staff in a manner consistent with the policies and procedures of the University.
3. To administer monies allocated to the ASWWU by the Services and Activities Fee to ensure continuous, safe, and efficient operations.

Section B – ASWWU Government

Jointly, the Executive Board and Student Senate shall:

1. Establish the structures necessary to govern the ASWWU;
2. Delegate their vested powers to ensure the efficient operations of the ASWWU;
3. Appropriate the funds allocated to the ASWWU and act with fiduciary responsibility with regards to the assets of the ASWWU;
4. Formulate the official opinion of the ASWWU through a joint resolution;

5. Exercise and delegate the authorities granted to the Student Government in Article 4 of the ASWWU Student Government Charter:
- a. Ensure that monies allocated to the AS Student Government by the Services and Activities Fee Committee are used to support continuous, safe, and efficient operations, consistent with federal, state, and university policy.
 - b. Provide recommendations regarding any increases and/or renewals of mandatory and voluntary student fees.
 - c. Hold elections to determine changes to or establishment of voluntary student fees.
 - d. Review all information pertaining to the expenditure and usage of student fee dollars.
 - e. Ensure a majority of student voting members on fee committees overseeing mandatory and voluntary student fees, with the exception of operating and building fees.
 - f. Exercise the right to appoint a student chair, with the concurrence of the University President or designee, on all committees overseeing and appropriating mandatory and voluntary student fee dollars, with the exception of operating and building fees.
 - g. Obtain and review information on the affairs of the University.
 - h. At the request of University committee chairs, to appoint student representatives to standing University committees, and to other bodies.
 - i. Allocate funds to support the employment of student and permanent staff as needed to fulfill the goals and maintain the operations of the AS Student Government, consistent with the regulations, policies, and procedures of the university.
 - j. Manage its allocated funds in accordance with regulations, policies, and procedures of the university and with fiduciary responsibility on behalf of students.
 - k. Participate in the management of the AS Bookstore's net operating revenues, where applicable.

Before action can be adopted by the entire ASWWU Government, both bodies must pass every measure in an identical form.

Section B—Section C – ASWWU Executive Board

The Executive Board shall be granted the authority to fulfill its duties and within the provisions set forth herein ~~to act in any University related matter while adhering to University policies and procedures.~~ The Executive Board shall have the authority:

1. To serve as the primary body of representation and advocacy for student needs in university governance structures relating to activities, diversity, governmental affairs, student services, sustainability, university operations, other university governance structures, and external government bodies.
- ~~2.~~ 2. To formulate the official opinion of the ASWWU Executive Board through a resolution.
- ~~2-3.~~ 2-3. To sit on and appoint student representatives to on-standing and ad hoc committees relating to activities, diversity, governmental affairs, student services, sustainability, university operations and to Associated Students committees in coordination with the Student Senate.
- ~~3-4.~~ 3-4. To obtain information and provide recommendations in-with regard to university administration pertaining to activities, diversity, governmental affairs, student services, sustainability, and university operations.
- ~~4-1.~~ 4-1. To formulate the official opinion of the ASWWU Executive Board through a resolution.

Section C—Section D – ASWWU Student Senate

The Student Senate shall be granted the authority to fulfill its duties within the provisions set forth herein ~~and to act in any University related matters while adhering to University policies and procedures.~~ The ASWWU Student Senate shall have the authority:

1. To serve as the primary body of representation and advocacy for student needs in university governance structures relating to academic affairs and other university governance structures.
- ~~2.~~ 2. To formulate the official opinion of the Student Senate through a resolution.
- ~~2-3.~~ 2-3. To sit on and appoint student representatives on standing and ad hoc committees relating to academic affairs and to Associated Students committees in coordination with the Executive Board.
- ~~3-4.~~ 3-4. To obtain information and provide recommendations in-with regard to university administration pertaining to academic affairs.
- ~~4-1.~~ 4-1. To formulate the official opinion of the Student Senate through a resolution.

Article VII—Article VI. Amendments and Bylaws

Section A – Bylaws

~~Governing bodies of the ASWWU—The Student Senate and Executive Board~~ shall have the authority to adopt and amend their ~~respective own~~ bylaws, with the consent of the Conference Committee (Article III) and

~~other body by a majority vote of approval from all active bodies.~~ This shall be done for the purpose of governing their respective branches in a manner consistent with this constitution and the policies and procedures of the University.

Section B – Constitutional Amendments

All amendments to this constitution must be approved by a majority vote of the ASWWU ~~in a general or special election (Article II) and will be presented to the University President for their acknowledgement~~ WWU Board of Trustees for ratification.

Section C – Construction

~~The ASWWU Student Government Charter supersedes this constitution. Where any conflict exists between these documents, the language in the Charter takes precedence. In such cases, this constitution must be amended as soon as practicable.~~

~~All other governing structures and documents of the ASWWU must conform with this constitution.~~

Article VII. Abolition~~Abolishment~~

~~Section C~~ Section A – Abolition of the whole ASWWU

~~Consistent with the ASWWU Student Government Charter, the ASWWU may only be abolished by a vote of its membership. To abolish the whole ASWWU, a supermajority (2/3) vote of at least fifteen percent (15%) of the voting membership of the ASWWU must be obtained. In such case, the ASWWU Charter, this ASWWU Constitution, and all other ASWWU structures become null and void at the end of the academic year in which the vote is held. This would include both the AS Student Government and the AS Programs and Services. The ASWWU may only be abolished by a two-thirds majority vote cast by the membership of the ASWWU. If the ASWWU is abolished, the powers given in this constitution become null and void.~~

Section B – Abolition of the Student Government

~~Consistent with the ASWWU Student Government Charter, the Student Government may only be abolished by a vote of the voting membership of the ASWWU. To abolish the Student Government, a supermajority (2/3) vote of at least ten percent (10%) of the membership of the ASWWU must be obtained. In such case, all ASWWU structures relating to student government shall become null and void at the end of the academic year in which the vote is held.~~

Section C – Restrictions

~~No single election shall decide on both the abolition of the student government and the abolition of the whole ASWWU. Where both questions are appropriately filed (Article II) only the first filed will be placed on the ballot.~~